THE ROLE OF PLASMA MEMBRANE CA²⁺ PUMPs (PMCAs) IN PATHOLOGIES OF MAMMALIAN CELLS

Ján Lehotsky ¹, Peter Kaplán ¹, Radovan Murín ¹ and Luc Raeymaekers ²

¹ Comenius University, Jessenius Medical Faculty, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Malá Hora 4, SK-03601 Martin, Slovakia, ² Laboratorium voor Fysiologie, K.U.Leuven, Campus Gasthuisberg, B-3000 LEUVEN, Belgium

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Consequences of loss of functional PMCA genes
- 4. Alterations of PMCA protein on expression level
 - 4.1. Role of PMCA in growth and differentiation
 - 4.1.1. Neuronal cells
 - 4.1.2. Endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells
 - 4.1.3. Muscle cells
 - 4.1.4. Ca^{2+} transporting epithelia
 - 4.2: Effects of steroids
- 5. Modifications of PMCA proteins
 - 5.1. Functional modifications of PMCA induced by oxidative stress
- 6. PMCA alterations in calcium-related cell toxicity
 - 6.1. Experimental calcium overload
 - 6.1.1. Effect on PMCA expression
 - 6.1.2. Effect on PMCA function as Ca^{2+}/H^{+} exchanger
 - 6.2. Calcium-induced cell toxicity in in vivo conditions (pathologies)
 - 6.2.1. PMCA modifications in seizure and stroke
 - 6.2.2. PMCA alterations in Alzheimer s disease
 - 6.2.3. Structural and functional alterations of PMCA in brain hypoxia/ischemia
 - 6.2.4. Role of PMCA in cardiac hypoxia/ischemia
- 7. The role of PMCA in other tissues pathologies
 - 7.1. The role of PMCA in liver pathologies
 - 7.2. Functional alterations of PMCA in diabetes
 - 7.3. Abnormalities of PMCA in erythrocyte-related pathologies
 - 7.4. Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ Pump in kidney cells disorders
 - 7.5. Abnormalities of PMCA function in hypertension
 - 7.6. Disturbances in vitamin D dependent PMCA modulation
 - 7.7. PMCA modulation in other calcium transporting tissues
- 8. Alterations of PMCA in aging
 - 8.1. Effect of aging on PMCA in neuronal cells
 - 8.2. Effect of aging on PMCA in other cell types
- 9. Conclusions and Perspectives
- 10. Acknowledgements
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

The biochemical function of the plasma membrane calcium ATPases (PMCAs) is the extrusion of cytosolic Ca²⁺ from the cell. Although this general function is well documented, the role of the complex isoform diversity and especially the contribution of specific isoforms to pathological conditions is less well understood. No human disease has been linked to a defect in any of the four PMCA genes. Nevertheless, isoforms do not have redundant functions, as shown by the indispensable role of PMCA2 demonstrated in transgenic mice. This review summarizes the results of recent analysis of the PMCA dysregulation in diseased cells or model systems of pathological conditions, including both acute

disorders like hypoxia/ischemia and seizure, and slowly progressing dysfunctions like Alzheimer's disease, hypertension, diabetes and aging. Abnormalities in PMCA or its regulators have been described in various organs, reflected in changes of expression levels or in modifications or proteolysis of the PMCA protein. Changes of PMCA function are often detected in cell types different from the specific type involved in the pathology, pointing to more general defects. Examples are erythrocytes in diabetes and blood platelets in hypertension. The changes suggest the significance of PMCA in Ca²⁺ homeostasis both in excitable and non-excitable cells.

2. INTRODUCTION

The recent extensive progress in the elucidation of the structure and function of Plasma Membrane Ca²⁺transport ATPases (PMCA) has been summarized in several excellent reviews, including (1, 2). PMCAs form a subfamily of the P-type Ca²⁺-transport ATPases, that utilize the energy of the hydrolysis of ATP to drive uphill translocation of Ca²⁺ across the membrane, transiently forming a phosphorylated intermediate during the transport cycle. The main structural property discriminating PMCAs from related subfamilies like the SERCAs of the internal Ca²⁺ stores is the presence of an extended C-terminal tail forming an autoinhibitory domain and containing a calmodulin-binding site. Binding of Ca2+-calmodulin relieves the inhibition, providing a mechanism for regulation of PMCA activity by the cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration itself. PMCAs form the sole ATP-driven Ca2+-extrusion system of the plasma membrane. However, in most cell types they are assisted in their function by the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchangers that catalyze the uphill extrusion of Ca²⁺ at the expense of the energy delivered by the downward countertransport of Na⁺. Exceptions are erythrocytes of most mammalian species, and hair cells of the auditory and vestibular system that solely rely on PMCAs for Ca²⁺ extrusion. In general, the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange system seems to have a higher transport capacity but a lower affinity for Ca²⁺.

PMCAs come in a great number of different isoforms. The reader is referred to recent reviews for a detailed survey (2). PMCAs are encoded by four genes, designated ATP2B1, ATP2B2, ATP2B3 and ATP2B4 in the human genomic database, encoding respectively PMCA1, PMCA2, PMCA3 and PMCA4. Alternative processing of the primary transcripts further increases the isoform diversity to at least twenty. This great diversity is a complicating factor in the study of the effect of pathophysiological conditions on the expression of PMCAs. Moreover, alternative processing of the PMCA mRNA occurs at sites that correspond to positions in the translated sequence that are crucial for regulation of the Ca²⁺ pump activity, probably resulting in a great diversity at the functional level as well (1, 2). PMCA1 and PMCA4 are almost ubiquitously expressed and are thus considered as housekeeping isoforms. PMCA2 and PMCA3 show a cell-type specific expression. For some isoforms also a specific subcellular localization in polarized cells has been demonstrated.

Alternative splicing affects cytosolic domains. The rearrangement occurs at two sites, designated site C (close to the C-terminus and located in the calmodulinbinding domain) and site A, located in the domain between transmembrane segments 2 and 3. Site C affects the binding of calmodulin and the susceptibility to phosphorylation by protein kinase A and by protein kinase C. The C-termini of some isoforms contain a PDZ-binding domain. Site A affects the sensitivity of PMCA to the stimulatory effect of negatively charged

phospholipids (3). Thus PMCA activity is able to respond in a cell-type specific and in a great variety of ways to changing physiological or pathological conditions.

Up till now no human disease has been linked to a defect in any of the PMCA genes. In mice, however, genetic defects in the gene encoding PMCA2 demonstrate that this isoform is indispensable for hearing and balanced movements. PMCA is expressed at high levels in the outer sensory hair cells of the organ of Corti. PMCA isoforms other than PMCA2 apparently cannot compensate for the loss of PMCA2 from these cells (4, 5, 6). In most cell types, however, non-genetic alterations of PMCA activity may be an important factor contributing to pathological conditions, considering the central role of PMCAs in the Ca²⁺ extrusion pathway and the demonstrated involvement of Ca²⁺ overload in the onset and progress of cellular dysfunction. In order to throw some light on the complexity of PMCA alterations in relation to disease, it is necessary to follow several distinct lines of investigation, each with scientific questions and specific experimental approach. In the following overview we will make a distinction between studies at the organ level and at the cellular level, studies on changes in expression of PMCAs and on functional activity, experimental induction of gross alterations such as hypoxia/ischemia, and more specific modifications of the experimental conditions. Taken together, the findings indicate that changes in PMCA activity may contribute at least to the progress and the severity of several pathological conditions.

3. CONSEQUENCES OF LOSS OF FUNCTIONAL PMCA GENES

The lack of known human pathologies linked to defects in any of the four PMCA genes could be indicative of a high degree of redundancy of the functions of each of the gene products. However, the great isoform diversity is found in all vertebrates, and even the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans expresses three PMCA genes (7). Such conservation strongly suggests an evolutionary pressure to preserve this diversity because of the requirement of isoform-specific properties for optimal functioning of the cell and the organism. Because of the lack of specific PMCA inhibitors, further proof will require the study of genetically modified animals, or the technique of specific mRNA elimination (antisense or RNAi) on cultured cells or model organisms. The application of these strategies has already given some striking examples of the indispensability of specific PMCA gene products.

Transgenic PMCA2-deficient mice exhibit an unsteady gait, have difficulties in maintaining balance and have hearing defects. The Ca²⁺ extrusion from hair bundles of sensory cells of the inner ear is catalyzed solely by PMCA pumps, the ionic composition of the

endolymph being incompatible with Na⁺ dependent Ca²⁺ the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger. extrusion by immmunoanalysis, Crouch and Schulte (8) have documented the distribution of PMCA in the adult and developing gerbil cochlea. Remarkable changes occur in the expression pattern of different isoforms in the developing cochlea between PMCA1 and PMCA2 supporting the notion that PMCA isoforms perform specialized specific and functions Immunohistological analysis has revealed that PMCA protein is also localized to the endolymph-secreting epithelial cells and participates in the regulation of the Ca²⁺ concentration in the endolymph (10).

In general, PMCA2 exhibits a highly restricted tissue distribution, suggesting it serves more specialized physiological functions than some of the other isoforms. In line with the PMCA2 knockout experiments, three different spontaneous mutations in the PMCA2 gene have been identified, occurring in two variants of "deafwaddler" and one "wriggle mouse Sagami". Analysis of heterozygous deafwaddler mice mutants has shown that PMCA2 is important for the outer hair function mainly at high frequencies (11). Thus, the data strongly argue for a specific role of PMCA2 in the ear and against the general redundancy of the PMCAs (2). For a comprehensive overview the reader is referred to reviews by (9, 12, 13).

4. ALTERATIONS OF PMCA PROTEIN EXPRESSION LEVELS

The proper cellular response to external and internal signals includes changes in the expression level of molecular components of different Ca²⁺-regulatory pathways. PMCA isoform expression and their alterations in pathological conditions due to interactions on the transcriptional level have only recently begun to be elucidated. Changes in the mRNA levels as well as in alternative mRNA processing have been described in response to a variety of factors, among them Ca²⁺ itself, vitamin D and steroids. In addition to their well known transcriptional effects, steroids have also been shown to have short-term effects on PMCA function. This section is restricted to changes observed in well controlled experimental conditions. Many other cases of altered expression levels will be described in later sections on pathological situations or disease-related conditions. The cause of these changes is often not well established.

4.1. Role of PMCA in growth and differentiation **4.1.1.** Neuronal cells

Calcium metabolism undergoes considerable changes during cellular differentiation. In neurons, differentiation induces up-regulation of calcium channels which help in the triggering of Ca²⁺-dependent events (14). More recent evidence shows that also the PMCA expression is increased in parallel, probably reflecting the greater demand for Ca²⁺ extrusion. Experiments have been conducted *in vivo* and on neuronal cells in culture, particularly cerebellar granule

cells, PC-12 or the derived PC-6 cells and neuroblastoma cell lines.

PMCA2 and PMCA3 are neuron-specific isoforms. During neuronal differentiation, up-regulation of these isoforms appears to be a general phenomenon, irrespective of the *in vivo* or *in vitro* situation, or of the differentiation-inducing stimulus, as will be shown below. Changes of PMCA1 and PMCA4 are less pronounced and more variable. Although it is difficult to prove a causal link between PMCA activity and differentiation, additional experiments involving manipulation of PMCA activity, including work on nonneuronal cells, may suggest such a connection.

PMCA2, PMCA3 and to a lesser extent PMCA4 are up-regulated during the development of the cerebellum (15). Similarly, rat cerebellar granule cells in culture up-regulate PMCA activity when they are induced to differentiate, either by chronic exposure to K⁺-depolarizing solution or to NMDA receptor agonists, treatments that both cause a sustained increase of [Ca²⁺]_i. PMCA2 and PMCA3 are strongly up-regulated whereas a brain-specific splice variant of PMCA4, PMCA4CII, is down-regulated (15). Because this isoform contains a PDZ-binding domain, its specific loss may reflect a requirement for removal of PMCA activity at specific sites in differentiated cells. Guerini et al. (16) have demonstrated that the down-regulation of PMCA4CII is mediated by activation of the Ca2+calmodulin dependent protein phosphatase calcineurin. Calcineurin is also important in the control of the expression levels of the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger NCX2 and of IP3 receptor type 1, but does not affect the upregulation of PMCA2 and PMCA3. A common mediator is probably $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ itself because decreasing extracellular Ca^{2+} or blocking Ca^{2+} channels inhibits the responses at the level of the PMCAs.

In another model system, induction of differentiation of neuroblastoma IMR-32 cells by cyclic AMP similarly up-regulates PMCA2 and PMCA3. PMCA4 is increased as well. Concomitantly, the recovery of Ca^{2+} transients in the presence of a SERCA blocker is accelerated, indicating a faster Ca^{2+} efflux (17).

Although PMCA1 is not a neuron-specific isoform, the inhibition of PMCA1 expression by the antisense technique in PC-6 neuronal cells in culture leads to a loss of nerve growth factor (NGF)-mediated neurite extension. This loss is associated with an elevation of glucocorticoid responsiveness (see also 4.2), causing down-regulation of α_1 integrin (18). These effects appear to be independent of any alteration of the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration since the basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, or size of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, transients were not significantly affected (19). The authors interpret these results as evidence for a role of specific PMCA isoforms that is more subtle and complex than simply removing Ca^{2+} following a Ca^{2+} -mediated signal.

In addition to its effect on PMCA gene expression, elevation of [Ca2+]i also affects the splicing pattern of the mRNA. In the neuroblastoma cell line IMR-32, depolarization results in an up-regulation of PMCA2 and in a change of its N-terminal splicing pattern (20).

4.1.2. Endothelial cells and smooth-muscle cells

In endothelial cells, the PMCA1 gene is upregulated by agonist- and tissue-specific signalling pathways. Protein kinase A and protein kinase C have been implicated in the increase of PMCA1 expression. The regulation of this response is dependent on transcriptional activation of the PMCA1 gene via a core segment of the gene promoter (-442 to + 169) (21).

Interestingly, the PMCA1 promoter has recently been demonstrated to possess two binding sites for the transcription factor c-myb. Binding of c-myb represses transcription of PMCA1 in vascular smooth muscle cells at the G₁/S cell cycle interface (22). C-myb is a transcription factor vitally important for the control of cell proliferation in conditions such as atherosclerosis and restenosis and it is also involved in the regulation of apoptosis by modulation of [Ca2+]i. The reduction in cmyb activity inhibits cell cycle progression and decreases intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations. The effects are largely mediated by an increased rate of Ca2+ extrusion, which is associated with increased levels of PMCA1 mRNA and protein, in parallel with lower but similar changes of PMCA4 mRNA. Conversely, overexpression of PMCA1 resulted in reductions of [Ca], G₁ to S transition and rate of cell proliferation (23).

4.1.3. Muscle cells

Overexpression of PMCA4 in the myogenic cell line L6 accelerates differentiation (24). This effect is in line with the anti-proliferative effect described above for vascular smooth cells. In contrast, overexpression of PMCA in the heart of transgenic mice stimulates growth of isolated cardiac cells in response to fetal calf serum or adrenergic agonists and attenuates induction of gene expression in response to endothelin 1 (25, 26).

4.1.4. Ca²⁺ transporting epithelia

Vitamin D-dependent Ca²⁺ transporting tissues express PMCA1b as the major isoform. Pannabecker *et al.* (27) first showed that 1,25(OH)₂ vitamin D₃ upregulates the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-pump protein in the intestine. Because nuclear PMCA mRNA was increased, the authors attribute the effect to an increased rate of transcription. Recently, however, it has been shown that post-transcriptional effects contribute to the up-regulation of PMCA1 (see 4.2) and that any positive regulatory vitamin D response element must lie outside the core promoter (28).

Taken together, all these results suggest that the function of PMCAs is not restricted to simple

prevention of calcium overload, but may be extended to an active involvement in the fine tuning of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ with potentially important consequences for cellular functions such as growth (18).

4.2. Effects of steroids

The brain is a site of extensive synthesis and metabolism of steroid hormones such that the accumulation of steroids appears to be, at least in part, independent of adrenal or gonadal sources.

levels of corticosteroids, Low mainly glucocorticoids, are important factors for learning and memory due to their genomic actions in the hippocampus. Chronically high levels of corticoids have profound effect on hippocampal structure and function and can even result in irreversible neurodegeneration. In a screen for genes repressed by high doses of glucocorticoids in rat hippocampus, the PMCA1 message has been picked up (29). Confirming this result, repression of PMCA1 by corticosterone was also observed in cultured hippocampal neurons, but only when the cells were in the differentiated state.

Because corticosteroids are mediators in the response to stress, Bhargava et al. (29) also investigated the effect of stress on PMCA1 expression. These effects were more complex, suggesting that corticosteroids are only one pathway in the PMCA response to stress. In intact animals cold stress itself repressed expression of PMCA1 in the hippocampus, whereas PMCA1 in other brain regions did not change. In adrenalectomized animals, cold stress even increased hippocampal PMCA1 expression. Defects in the balance between glucocorticoid-mediated and non-glucocorticoidmediated effects on PMCA1 expression may have adverse effects on neuronal function and ultimately result in irreversible neuronal damage (29).

The PMCA-glucocorticoid relation is confirmed by the converse experiment already described above (see 4.1.1.), demonstrating that the loss of PMCA1 by using antisense technology in PC-6 cells is associated with increased glucocorticoid receptor transactivation (18).

Several neuroactive steroids have been shown to affect the activity of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-stimulated ATPase activity independent of transcriptional effects. In dog synaptosomes, testosterone stimulated the activity whereas progesterone had an opposite effect. In rat brain neuronal membrane preparations or purified rat Ca²⁺-ATPase, an increase of the activity of Ca²⁺-ATPase was demonstrated after a short-time incubation with physiologically relevant concentrations of pregnenolone, estradiol, testosterone and dehydroepiandrostendione, which suggests that local steroid synthesis could allow permanent Ca²⁺-independent non-genomic Ca²⁺-ATPase regulation (30).

5. MODIFICATIONS OF PMCA PROTEINS

It is generally accepted that oxidative stress, initiated mainly by reactive oxygen/nitrogen species [RO(N)S], contributes as a pathogenic factor to several pathologies including ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI), and inflammatory and degenerative diseases. The disruptive action of RO(N)S involves membrane lipid peroxidation, membrane protein modification, DNA damage and formation of advanced glycosylation products. Each of these events may cause alterations of membrane structure and function, including membrane fluidity and activity of structural proteins. The changes of redox balance often lead to activation or silencing of genes encoding transcription factors such as AP-1 and NF-κB, antioxidant defense enzymes, and structural proteins which may modulate signal transduction cascades and redirect gene expression in eukaryotic cells (31).

5.1. Functional modifications of PMCA induced by oxidative stress

The effect of oxidative stress on membranes is known to involve modifications of both protein and lipid. Because the activity of the plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} transport ATPase not only depends on the integrity of the pump protein itself but also on the lipid composition of the membrane, it is often difficult to find the exact mechanism responsible for oxidative impairment of Ca^{2+} pump activity. Evidence for both types of mechanisms has been obtained, depending on the oxidative agent and on the cell type.

The first indications of PMCA protein as a possible target of free radicals came from studies on erythrocytes which showed that incubation of red blood cells in the presence of non-heme iron, ferrous sulfate and EDTA, or t-butyl hydroxyperoxide resulted in a concentration- and time-dependent inhibition of PMCA (32 - 34). The inhibition was associated with cross-linking of membrane proteins. Free-radical scavengers prevented both PMCA inhibition and protein cross-linking.

Clear evidence for a direct effect on the Ca^{2+} pump protein itself has been obtained for Ca^{2+} transport inhibition in erythrocytes by activated neutrophils (35). The inhibition is caused by superoxide produced by neutrophils which is converted to other radicals by a Fenton-type reaction. By using an antibody to the Ca^{2+} pump protein, it was shown that the inhibition was accompanied by protein fragmentation. A contribution of lipid peroxidation was unlikely. Pump protein degradation has also been demonstrated during exposure of erythrocytes to peroxynitrite (36).

A direct inhibitory efffect on the erythrocyte Ca²⁺-transport ATPase is also seen with 4-OH-2,3-*trans*-nonenal (HNE), an aldehyde product of fatty acid

oxidation, although this effect is accompanied by an increased passive Ca²⁺ permeability, indicating an effect on lipids as well. The inhibition of the Ca²⁺ pump is due to the depression of the basal as well as the calmodulinstimulated activity (37). Pretreatment of calmodulin itself with HNE did not impair its ability to stimulate the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. Detailed analysis of the kinetics of Ca²⁺ pump inhibition demonstrated a reduction of V_{max} as a result of a direct effect on the enzyme, probably by irreversible modification of functionally important sites on the enzyme molecule (38). The effect of HNE provides an example of the complexity of oxidative damage due to additional mechanisms that may be involved. It has been shown that HNE is present in oxidized low density lipoproteins (LDL), which are found in atherosclerotic lesions (39). Thus, together with the modification of low density lipoproteins (LDL), the Ca²⁺ pump and other proteins need to be considered as additional sites of action of HNE in atherogenesis or other radical-generated pathologies. Results which further support this hypothesis have been obtained from exposure of platelet plasma membranes to Cu++oxidized LDL as an inhibitory agent. Oxidized LDL but not native LDL inhibited the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in parallel with a massive increase of [Ca2+]i. This treatment however did not alter membrane fluidity, excluding gross changes of the membrane environment (40). The inhibitory concentration of oxidized LDL used in the study was considerably below the physiological level of circulating LDL, indicating that platelet Ca²⁺-ATPase may also be inhibited in vivo. Thus, modifications of Ca²⁺-ATPase may contribute to elevated [Ca²⁺]_i and platelet activation in such pathologies as atherosclerosis and hypertension.

Other reactive molecules that have been shown to inhibit the Ca²⁺-ATPase of erythrocytes are amino acid peroxides and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), such as NO (nitric oxide) or ONOO (peroxynitrite) (41). These substances are powerful oxidants, which can react with unsaturated fatty acids and with amino acid residues of proteins. Erythrocyte membranes exposed to peroxynitrite present aggregation and nitration of proteins, changes in protein organization and inactivation of the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. Neuromelanin, a product of dopamine metabolism in the brain, may act as a physiological protector against peroxynitrite as it inhibits nitration of tyrosine and oxidation of tryptophan residues in the erythrocyte Ca²⁺-transport ATPase (42, 43).

The peroxynitrite-induced protein degradation pattern of the erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase is also seen in erythrocytes of asphyxiated newborn patients. The perinatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (asphyxia) is a major cause of childhood neurological deficits and it is suggested that cooperative action of RO(N)S and excitatory amino acids are involved in the etiology of the injury. The neuronal cell damage is not restricted to neurons but can also be detected in blood cells. An enhanced lipid peroxidation has been detected in

erythrocyte ghosts of asphyxiated newborns in parallel with an increased degradation of Ca²⁺-pump protein and a concomitant depression of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity to 50 %. Moreover, the activity of the Ca²⁺-ATPase in asphyxiated membranes was stimulated by calmodulin to a lesser degree than that of normal membranes. Since administration of peroxynitrite to purified Ca²⁺-ATPase from human erythrocytes caused a time-dependent protein cleavage, it is suggested that this membrane is a primary target of asphyxia-induced damage, in part mediated by ROS. The impairment of Ca²⁺-ATPase in erythrocytes thus might destabilize cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis and could contribute to hypoxia-induced damage to the cell (36).

In alveolar macrophages, oxidative stress has been shown to cause alterations in cellular morphology and signalling pathways during respiratory burst and prolonged inflammatory reactions. An early alteration to the plasma membrane is the translocation of annexin VI as a result of ATP depletion and oxidative modification of membrane lipids and proteins. During respiratory burst, [Ca2+]i is elevated. In parallel, a dysfuction of Ca²⁺-ATPase plasma membrane caused hydroperoxides has been proposed as a potential mechanism to explain the cellular reactions (44). Similarly, incubation of hepatic basolateral plasma membrane with S-nitroso-N-acetyl-penicillamine (a NO donor) or 3-morpholinosydnonimine (a peroxynitrite donor) decreased the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in a manner dependent on the concentration of the liberated NO or peroxynitrite. Both compounds likely inhibit the ATPase activity by oxidation of thiol groups of the enzyme (45).

Disturbances in Ca²⁺ homeostasis play a particularly important role in brain damage and in a number of processes that have been implicated in Ca²⁺pathogenesis, including brain ischemia/anoxia, oxidative stress, and neurodegenerative diseases. The CNS with its high rate of oxygen consumption and increased content of polyunsaturated fatty acids is a tissue especially vulnerable to oxidative stress. Ca2+-ATPase from cortical synaptosomes shows a diminished activity following ascorbate/iron induced oxidation (46), which is accompanied by protein cross-linking and lipid peroxidation. This suggests that inhibition is the result of both lipid peroxidation and enzyme protein modification. $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is increased in the oxidative condition if Ca^{2+} is present in the extracellular medium. The membrane potential is changed only slightly, suggesting that the integrity and permeability of the synaptosomal membrane is preserved. The defects in Ca²⁺extrusion (via PMCA) and/or sequestration (via SERCA) might be responsible for the alteration in calcium homeostasis as a consequence of lipid peroxidation (46). Exposure of PMCA to peroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxide and ONOO' in vitro led to the significant loss of PMCA Ca²⁺-ATPase activity, kinetically expressed in a decrease of V_{max} without significant changes in Ca²⁺ affinity (47). Moreover, the

direct measurement of Ca2+ transport was a more sensitive indicator of oxidative damage to the enzyme than the Ca²⁺-activated hydrolysis of ATP. Peroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide act quite nonselectively, whereas the effect of ONOO is more selective and specifically modifies residues such as tyrosines, tryptophanes, and cysteines. Exposure of synaptosomes to oxidative stress led both to the introduction of carbonyl groups into protein and to induction of structural changes such as protein aggregation detected by anti-PMCA antibodies. The effect is partially reversed under reducing conditions. The aggregation is probably the result of bityrosine formation, unfolding of the protein and increased hydrophobic interactions between PMCA molecules (47).

6. PMCA ALTERATIONS IN CALCIUM-RELATED CELL TOXICITY

Overstimulation of glutamate receptors leads to excitotoxic damage of selectively vulnerable neurons, resulting in necrotic or apoptotic cell death (31, 48). This glutamate excitotoxicity is thought to be a final common pathway of acute injuries such as seizure and ischemia (stroke), as well as of many neurodegenerative diseases. The sustained elevated levels of glutamate may result in delayed cell death by increased permeability of mainly NMDA and AMPA receptors to Ca²⁺. Glutamate toxicity depends also on the generation of oxygen free radicals and NO (31) which have been shown to alter the functioning of ion-transporting ATPases including PMCA pumps (47, 49). Although the initial rise of Ca² may not be acutely toxic, at later times a delayed Ca2+ deregulation occurs. However, little evidence exists to explain the role of PMCA pumps or other Ca²⁺ regulatory mechanisms in the glutamate-induced cell damage.

Intracellular Ca2+ overload caused by excessive glutamate release and concomitant generation of free radicals are thought to play a prominent role as triggering factors in the pathogenesis of brain hypoxic (anoxic), hypo- aglycemic and ischemic-reperfusion injury (IRI) (50). The oxygen supply to part of the brain can be cut off by a loss of blood flow (ischemia), owing to cardiac arrest or a clot occluding a blood vessel, or by insufficient oxygen in the blood (hypoxia), as in perinatal asphyxia or poisoning with CO. All those pathologies including substrate withdrawal (hypo- or aglycemia) quickly lead to dissipation of transmembrane gradients, membrane depolarization and to an acid shift of the intracellular pH. Numerous energy-dependent homeostatic mechanisms are necessary to support normal neuronal function. In addition, increased influx of extracellular Na+ and inhibition of the Na+-K+-ATPase and other ion pumps including PMCA due to ATP depletion can exacerbate the effects of hypoxia on the neuronal cells (51). The brain is especially vulnerable to free-radical damage because of its high

oxygen consumption, abundant lipid and iron content, and relative paucity of antioxidants compared with other organs. Because the capacity of cerebrospinal fluid to bind iron is poor, the iron release by hemorrhage, or its mobilization from ferritin by acidosis may trigger generation of RO(N)S.

Among the effects of ischemia/reperfusion, lipid peroxidation, modification of the phospholipid profile and the accumulation of aldehydes such as HNE are the most prominent. Protein oxidation such as amino acid modification, fragmentation and cross-linking might lead concomitantly to secondary accumulation of modified proteins (52, 53, 54). In addition, the redox status altered by disease may modify protein degradation (55). Derivatives of nitrogen such as peroxynitrite may induce nitration of tyrosines in proteins, thereby preventing their phosphorylation and causing interference with cellular signalling (56). Oxidative alterations of functional proteins and lipids after IRI could contribute to the disturbance of neuronal ion gradients including Ca2+ homeostasis (57) and consequently might lead to neuronal cell death (31). From in vitro experiments it is known that effects of RO(N)S are rather unspecific. However, radicals strongly inhibit important enzymes regulating neuronal ion homeostasis such as Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (58, 59, 60) and the SERCA Ca2+ pump (57). Several lines of evidence suggest that also the PMCA Ca²⁺ pump is one of the target proteins for RO(N)S (for recent review see (61)).

The relative contribution of the mechanisms involved in the clearance of intracellular Ca2+ has been shown to be dependent on the Ca2+ concentration as well as on the neuronal cell type. Only a limited number of papers deal with the subcellular localization of PMCA transporters in neurons. Biochemical immunocytochemical studies on chick ciliary ganglion have clearly shown that both PMCA and Na⁺-Ca²⁺exhanger are present in nerve terminal plasma membrane and that both proteins are absent from synaptic vesicle membrane. However, proteins are differently distributed, the PMCA clusters are localized to the transmitter release sites while Na+-Ca2+exchangers tend to be located at non-synaptic regions of the terminal (62).

The relative contribution of PMCA Ca^{2^+} pumps to the removal of $[Ca^{2^+}]_i$ after a stimulus has led to some conflicting results. In a study on cerebellar Purkinje cell somata, SERCA pumps, PMCA pumps and Na^+ - Ca^{2^+} exchangers accounted for most the Ca^{2^+} clearance at 500 nM Ca^{2^+} . At 2 μ M Ca^{2^+} the contribution of SERCA and the Na^+ - Ca^{2^+} -exchanger and especially PMCA pumps decreased, PMCAs accounting for only 6% (63). In contrast, in the study of Mironov (64) on hippocampal neurons, both PMCA and the organellar Ca^{2^+} pump were the main determinants for lowering cytosolic Ca^{2^+} under physiological conditions, whereas the Na^+ - Ca^{2^+} -

exchanger and mitochondria seemed to play a minor role.

6.1. Experimental calcium overload 6.1.1. Effect on PMCA expression

As has been described in section 4.1.1, PC-12 cells present an altered PMCA isoform expression pattern during culturing in $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]_i$ elevating conditions such as depolarization by high K^+ . PMCA expression levels have been shown also to be critical to PC-12 cell survival in pathological situations such as $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{overload}$ and Ca^{2+} mediated cell death (65). PC-12 cells overexpressing the PMCA4b isoform were less vulnerable to $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{-mediated}$ cell death induced by the Ca^{2+} ionophore A23187 than control cells. Conversely, suppression of endogenous PMCA4 by the antisense method resulted in increased vulnerability to $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{-mediated}$ cell death. These data indicate that regulation of PMCA expression may be critical to cellular survival when cells are exposed to pathological increases in $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]_i$ and changes in Ca^{2+} homeostasis.

6.1.2. Effect on PMCA function as Ca²⁺-H⁺ exchanger

Changes of intracellular pH may have multiple effects on the regulation of cellular functions that may have significant pathological impact. The PMCA pump operates as an electrogenic Ca²⁺-H⁺ exchanger with a 1:1 stoichiometry (66). The increase of its activity during Ca²⁺ signalling events may thus be involved in cellular acidosis. Such an effect has been clearly demonstrated in smooth-muscle cells (67). Since Ca²⁺ and protons have opposite effects on many cellular processes, the role of PMCA in the regulation of these two ions may be of general importance.

As demonstrated on hippocampal neurons, brainstem slices and snail neurons, depolarizationinduced [Ca²⁺]_i elevation evokes a prominent fall of intracellular pH (pH_i) caused by exchange of Ca²⁺ for extracellular protons via a vanadate- and eosin-sensitive plasmalemmal Ca²⁺-H⁺ pump (68). A marked acidosis also occurs following glutamate stimulation of cerebral granule cells (69) and hippocampal neurons (70) with possible pathological consequences. Extracellular alkalinization decreases Ca²⁺ extrusion by the inhibition of activity of PMCA pump-mediated Ca2+-H+ transport following a glutamate challenge. Comparison of the effects produced by alkaline pH and by the external Na⁺ concentration led Khodorov and coworkers (70) to suggest that Ca²⁺ pump mediated Ca²⁺ extrusion rather than Na⁺-Ca²⁺-exchange may play a dominant role in the removal of Ca²⁺ from glutamate-treated neurons. The physiological and pathological significance of pH_i is further stressed by the observation that acidosis resulting from NMDA stimulation may constitute a negative feedback mechanism on the NMDA-activated ion influx (69). PMCA-induced proton transport thus contributes to the regulation of pHi, in addition to [Ca²⁺], a potent component of neuronal excitability and synaptic plasticity.

6.2. Calcium-induced cell toxicity in *in vivo* conditions (pathologies)

6.2.1. PMCA modifications in seizure and stroke

Prolonged seizures, complex partial seizures and status epilepticus may cause brain damage, resulting in death of susceptible cell types and fibrillary gliosis, most typically in hippocampus, amygdala and neocortex (71). Working on brain slices and using tetanic stimulation as a model for seizure, Pelletier et al. (71) concluded that Ca^{2+} influx together with Ca^{2+} release from endoplasmic Ca²⁺ stores are necessary for seizure-induced cell death. The potential participation of PMCAs has been analyzed by studying the changing expression pattern in rat hippocampus during kainateinduced seizures (72). Relative mRNA levels for three PMCA isoforms (PMCA 1, 2 and 3) were examined by in situ hybridization. PMCA1 and PMCA2 were decreased in pyramidal cells of the CA1 and CA3 regions 12 hours following kainate injection. In some pyramidal cells, PMCA1 remained significantly below control levels for 72 hours post-injection. Decreased PMCA expression preceded the onset of neuronal loss. The distinct time course of the changes in PMCA1 and PMCA2 mRNAs and the lack of effect of kainate on PMCA3 expression suggests that early decreases in mRNAs can not simply be explained by cell death of pyramidal neurons. Interestingly, expression of PMCA2 showed a clear decrease in the granule cells of the dentate gyrus already 4 hours after injection. However, its expression quickly returned to control levels after 24 hours. It could be hypothesized that this observation is related to the fact that granule cells of the dentate gyrus are more resistant to excitotoxic and ischemic cell death (31, 73). Thus, the PMCA recovery seems to maintain [Ca²⁺]_i at levels more close to physiological during times that are crucial for cell survival.

In humans, the hippocampus expresses relatively high levels of PMCA2 and PMCA4 mRNAs. It could be speculated that the increased PMCA expression may contribute to the higher resistance of this region to excitotoxic injury.

A significant depression of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity has also been observed on rat brain cortex following pentylentetrazol-induced status epileptic seizure and streptozotocin-induced diabetes (74). The observed decrease in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity can reflect the diminution of the total number of PMCA protein molecules due to decreased translation or due to the decreased number of total cells, or could be due to a decreased number of active enzyme entities caused by fragmentation, aggregation or chemical alterations (49). The reduction of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity following treatments inducing status epilepticus or diabetes may thus be interpreted as one of the initial biochemical lesions which start a cascade of processes which may later culminate in cell death.

Stroke and atherosclerosis in humans significantly affect erythrocyte membrane lipid

composition and ATPase activities. Measurements on 51 patients with acute cerebral infarction and 12 patients with atherosclerosis revealed a decreased erythrocyte deformability, an increase in the membrane cholesterol/phospholipid ratio and a decrease of Ca²⁺-ATPase and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activities. It is interesting that changes exist before the occurrence of stroke and could thus serve as an early indication of the patient's state in clinical settings (75).

6.2.2. PMCA alterations in Alzheimer's disease (AD)

The physical properties of cell membranes and calcium homeostasis in both the central and peripheral nervous system are changed in Alzheimer's disease. The amyloid beta-peptide (Abeta) that accumulates in the brain in AD is potentially neurotoxic. As shown by experiments on cultured hippocampal neurons, addition of Abeta causes loss of Ca²⁺ homeostasis and neuronal injury which is preceded by impairment of the Na+-K+-ATPase activity (48). Although the authors consider the inhibition of Na+-K+-ATPase activity as the main cause of the disruption of Ca²⁺ regulation, they also observe a reduction of Ca²⁺-ATPase on exposure of synaptosomes prepared from postmortem human hippocampus to Abeta. Antioxidants such as vitamin E and propylgallate significantly protected cells against the ATPase impairments and neurotoxicity, suggesting a role for reactive oxygen (nitrogen species) in the pathogenesis caused by Abeta (48). A recombinant carboxy terminal 105 amino acid fragment of beta-amyloid precursor protein containing the full length of Abeta (CT 105) has in vitro a more potent effect than that of Abeta on cultured neuronal Ca²⁺ uptake and Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger (76). In addition, CT 105 disrupts calcium homeostasis and renders neuronal cells more vulnerable to glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in rat primary cortical neurons and PC 12 cells (77). It was not shown, however, that the effect directly involves PMCA activity.

Increased exposure to aluminium has been considered as one of the causative factors of AD. Mundy $et\ al.\ (78)$ studied the effect of aluminium on the activities of Ca^{2+} transport in microsomes and synaptosomes isolated from adult rat frontal cortex and cerebellum. In all organelles addition of 50-800 μM AlCl $_3$ resulted in a concentration-dependent inhibition of Ca^{2+} transport. However, the same concentrations induced an activation of Ca^{2+} -dependent ATPase activities from both brain regions. The authors proposed that aluminium acts at multiple sites of neurons to displace both Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} thereby increasing the ATPase activity but disrupting transport of Ca^{2+} . It has, however, not been proven that any of these effects involve PMCA activity rather than organellar Ca^{2+} pumps.

The hypothesis that abnormalities in cellular Ca^{2+} regulation might be involved in the etiology of AD was further supported by experiments on fibroblasts from AD patients (79). The Mg^{2+} -dependent, Ca^{2+} -

stimulated ATPase presented an approximately two fold higher $K_{\rm m}$ value in Alzheimer fibroblasts than in controls. Although the authors ascribe this difference to an effect on PMCA, this interpretation awaits further proof because the experiments were performed on crude homogenates.

6.2.3. Structural and functional alterations of PMCA in brain hypoxia/ischemia

Although the Ca²⁺-dependent processes seem to play a major role in cell damage, the timing of Ca²⁺-dependent damage and the role of increased ability to buffer or reduce cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ loads in ischemic tolerance are still unresolved. Ischemic death of specific neurons shares some of the mechanisms of classical forms of apoptosis and necrosis. Studies on lower mammals have suggested that neuronal death after brief ischemia in the CA1 hippocampal region occurs by apoptosis. However, studies on monkeys and humans rather support necrosis, the calpain-cathepsin dependent cell degeneration, as the primary mechanism (80).

In Jurkat cells and neuroblastoma cells undergoing apoptosis, only IP₃ receptor type 1 has recently been shown as a caspase 3 substrate among the proteins associated with Ca²⁺transport (81, 82). Digestion of IP₃ receptors may interfere with Ca²⁺ signaling pathways and intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis. These results provide an explanation for the lower levels of this protein in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (82).

On the other hand, ion transport systems may also be decisive to cell death. It has been recently shown by (83) that caspases can cleave different plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoforms and thereby cause membrane lysis in cells undergoing apoptosis.

In recent work from our own laboratory we have attempted to investigate the potential role of PMCAs in altered Ca2+ homeostasis following transient global ischemia and prolonged reperfusion. Isoform-specific antibodies against three human isoforms of PMCA but recognizing the corresponding protein in the rat raised by Stauffer (84, 85) were used for immuno-localization of PMCAs in the different regions of gerbil brain. Similarly to human and rat tissues, all three gene products (PMCA1, 2 and 3) were detected in the hippocampus, frontal cerebral cortex and cerebellum. PMCA1 was expressed in the highest quantity in the cortex and hippocampus. The PMCA2 signal was generally lower than that of PMCA1 and was highest in the cerebellum, with a moderate amount in the cortex. Anti-PMCA3 antibody stained weakly and was localized in the cerebellum and in the hippocampus. As expected from our previous results using non-isoform discriminating antibodies (86), 10 min global forebrain ischemia had no effect on the level of any PMCA isoforms. However, ischemia followed by reperfusion led after up to 7 to 10 days to a significant decrease of the PMCA immuno-signal in the forebrain membranes. This decrease could be ascribed solely to the selective loss of PMCA1 signal (to 59 and 63 % of control levels) and the major loss was localized to the hippocampus, which is thought to be the most affected brain region (CA1 sector) after global ischemia. PMCA2 and PMCA3 did not show significant differences after IRI neither in the hippocampus nor in the cerebral cortex. Combined with the observation that the tubulin level does not differ significantly between control and ischemic tissue, these data demonstrate that the decrease of PMCA1 can not simply be explained by cell death or a general response of all isoforms to ischemia/reperfusion injury (87). We don't know yet whether the major effect on PMCA1 level occurs at the stage of transcription, translation or degradation.

A possible explanation arises from the experiments of Neumar's group (88, 89). Transient ischemia in rats induced by bilateral carotid occlusion and hypovolemic hypotension followed by 48 hours reperfusion induced proteolytic fragmentation of PMCA protein in parallel with a considerable depression of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity to 51 per cent prior to morphological evidence of neuronal degeneration. Proteolysis in the hippocampus was caused by increased calpain activity. However, the antibodies used in this study (5F10) did not discriminate between individual isoforms and thus direct evidence concerning the selective loss of PMCA1 in gerbil hippocampus is still lacking. Whether PMCA1 is more than other isoforms vulnerable to excitotoxic injury or to action of free radicals (protein degradation is under redox control) (55), in ischemia is not yet known. However its selective decrease in the most affected area suggests a specific role in the dynamic regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and in the derangement of Ca²⁺ homeostasis leading to the delayed death of hippocampal neurons. It should be remarked that in parallel with the decrease of PMCA a number of other Ca2+ transport proteins are affected during the reperfusion period: the intracellular Ca²⁺ pump (90, 91) and the IP₃ receptor (92).

Although a similar progressive reduction of histochemically determined $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{-ATPase}$ activity has been documented in gerbil CA1 hippocampal neurons during reperfusion period (93), the results are less indicative due to the unspecificity of the histochemical determination. However, severe disturbances of the $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{-ATPase}$ precede the early stages of delayed neuronal death and thus seem to occur far earlier than the morphological degenerative changes or increased calcium content in the CA1 pyramidal cells.

Interestingly, the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway is thought to play an important role in cachexia, characterized by profound tissue wasting, that frequently complicates malignancies. The status of the Ca²⁺-dependent proteolytic system has been evaluated in the gastrocnemius muscle of AH-130 tumor bearing rats

by measurement of the activity of calpain, of calpastatin, its natural inhibitor, and of the PMCA protein, a calpain substrate. After tumor transplantation, a decrease in PMCA Ca²⁺-ATPase was the prominent feature, while the level of the SERCA pump did not change. The diminution of PMCA protein is caused by the progressively increasing dysbalance in the calpain/calpastatin ratio since the level of total calpastatin activity progressively declined, while total calpain activity remained unchanged. Moreover, decreased levels of both calpastatin and plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase have also been detected in the heart of the tumor-bearers, which strongly suggests a more general Ca²⁺-dependent proteolysis which may play a role in the muscle protein hypercatabolic response (94).

A clinically very interesting situation is the pretreatment by non-lethal ischemic loading in CA1 hippocampal neurons (95), which is thought to cause protection against Ca²⁺ toxicity (ischemic tolerance). As shown in ischemia-tolerant gerbils, the level of Ca²⁺-ATPase determined by histochemical methodology in CA1 neurons exposed to a non-lethal 2 min ischemia, increased significantly before the start of the 5 min of lethal ischemia and even remained at a higher level subsequently, compared to ischemia non-tolerant CA1 neurons. This result strongly resembles data on CA3 neurons, which are constitutively resistant to such periods of ischemia (96). However, due to the methodology used in Ca²⁺-ATPase analysis and because of a parallel enhanced mitochondrial Ca²⁺ buffering system in tolerant regions, the role of Ca2+-ATPase in the process of acquired tolerance to subsequent ischemia might be questioned.

In fact, we recently showed that the extent of lipid and protein modifications in a whole rat neuronal preparation induced by IRI occurs mainly during the period of reperfusion. Similarly, an increase of immunoreactivity for HNE-modified proteins in CA1 hippocampal region was seen in the reperfusion period after transient ischemia in gerbils. Loss of immunoreactivity increase in ischemic tolerant animals points to the important role of HNE in oxidative stress-induced altered neuronal signalling and survival of neurons (54).

Chronic cerebral vasospasm as a consequence of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) has also been shown to be associated with impaired Ca^{2+} regulation in smoothmuscles of cerebral arteries (97). Experimental SAH in the canine basilar artery caused a decrease of the activity of plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase as a result of single or double experimental blood injection. Concomitantly there was an increase of the plasma membrane permeability to Ca^{2+} . The harmful substances in the extravasated blood and other factors such as superoxide which are released from the oxyhemoglobin in a subarachnoid clot might be causative agents in the

early occurrence and long lasting decrease in Ca²⁺-ATPase in experimental SAH.

6.3. Role of PMCA in myocardial pathologies

In cardiomyocytes the pathway of Ca^{2+} efflux via the Na^+ - Ca^{2+} exchanger has a higher maximal capacity than that via the Ca^{2+} -transporting ATPase. However, the sarcolemmal Ca^{2+} pump becomes important at the lower $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ during diastole due to its higher affinity for Ca^{2+} (98, 99).

Cardiac dysfunction following ischemia is accompanied by a general imbalance of ion transport, particularly of Ca^{2+} . The effect of cardiac ischemia on ATP-dependent Ca^{2+} transport of sarcolemma has been investigated in several laboratories, with confirming but also some conflicting results.

In an early study, Chemnitius *et al.* (100) have investigated the properties of sarcolemmal membranes purified from isolated perfused canine hearts following intermittent clamping of the inflow and outflow until a stable decline in the rate of force development had been reached. This treatment resulted in irreversible damage to ATP-dependent sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport, with depression of both the initial rate of Ca²⁺ uptake and maximal Ca²⁺ uptake capacity. Dhalla and coworkers have observed similar effects and have moreover shown that reoxygenation induces a further decline of ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ transport of the sarcolemma (101, 102). Ca²⁺ pumping activity declined with the duration of ischemia and was accompanied by structural changes of the sarcolemma (103).

Samouilidou *et al.* (104) have observed a depression of the $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ -stimulated ATPase activity of sarcolemmal membranes of ischemic hearts *in situ*. As a model, dogs subjected to systemic hemodialysis were used, with 90-min ligation of the coronary artery followed by 30-min reperfusion. The inhibition of sarcolemmal ATP-dependent $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ transport was reflected in a decrease of the $\mathrm{V_{max}}$ and an increase of $\mathrm{K_m}$ for calmodulin. Interestingly, reduction of the $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ -concentration had a protective effect on the ischemia-induced alterations of the calmodulin-stimulated $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ -ATPase activity. The authors propose that the decrease of $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ -ATPase activity after ischemia is caused by alterations of the calmodulin-binding site of the enzyme.

An insensitivity of PMCA activity to ischemia was found by (105). In sarcolemmal vesicles from rabbit heart, the initial velocity of ATP-dependent ${\rm Ca^{2^+}}$ transport was unaffected even by 2 hours of ischemia, whereas the Na $^+$ -Ca $^{2^+}$ -exchange activity was significantly inhibited and the number of ${\rm Ca^{2^+}}$ channels was reduced. The maintenance of normal function of the ATP-dependent ${\rm Ca^{2^+}}$ pump indicates that there is not simply a gross disruption of all sarcolemmal function during ischemia in this model.

Oxidative stress may play a crucial role in cardiac dysfunction, including ischemia/reperfusion injury (for review, see 106). Dhalla and coworkers have investigated the effect of oxidative stress on PMCA function in a series of studies, both on perfused hearts and directly on isolated sarcolemmal membranes. Depression of sarcolemmal PMCA activity similar to that in ischemia/reperfusion was observed by cardiac perfusion with radical-generating solutions. In ischemia as well as with radical-generating perfusion, scavenging enzymes prevented the effects. The ATP-dependent Ca² transport of purified membranes from control hearts was inhibited by oxygen radicals, and also this effect was reversed by antioxidant enzymes (98, 107). Similar effects have also been observed on coronary artery smooth-muscle cells (108).

Cardiac hypertrophy and myopathy are other conditions associated with abnormalities in Ca²⁺ handling, including modifications of the ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ transport in the sarcolemma. Sarcolemmal membranes from both pressure-induced (aortic banding for 28 days) and hypertension cardiac hypertrophy in rats present an increased activity of the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ pump in parallel with altered phospholipid composition and number of voltage-dependent Ca2+ channels. The results suggest that alterations in the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport activities may serve as an adaptive mechanism facilitating the removal of Ca²⁺ from the myocardial cells during the development of cardiac hypertrophy (109). On the other hand, in the development of clinical symptoms of hereditary cardiomyopathy in hamsters, the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺-ATPase is decreased in parallel with lesion development. Both the K_m for Ca^{2+} and the V_{max} are affected. Because the activities of Na+-K+-ATPase and Na⁺-Ca²⁺-exchanger were unaltered, and the number of Ca²⁺ channel receptor binding sites was increased, an imbalance in Ca2+ fluxes appears to be involved in the pathogenesis of the disease, with an important contribution of altered PMCA function (110). In addition, certain cardiomyopathic side effects of drug administration may be explained by free-radical induced inhibition of ATP driven Ca²⁺ transport.

ROS possibly in the form of hydrogen peroxide generated by the metabolism of alloxan inhibit Ca^{2+} transport by plasma membranes isolated from dog aorta. This action may contribute to the vasoconstrictive side effect of this drug (111).

The role of oxidative stress may not be restricted to ischemia/reperfusion-related dysfunction. Oxidative damage may also be an important factor in cardiomyopathy caused by excessive amounts of circulating catecholamines. Experimental treatment of rats with a high dose of the synthetic catecholamine isoproterenol resulted, in addition to morphological and functional changes, in an increased level of oxidative stress products such as malondialdehyde content,

conjugated dienes and low glutathione redox ratio. In parallel, depression of cardiac sarcolemmal ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake, Ca²⁺-stimulated ATPase activity, and Na⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ accumulation was observed. Similar results have been obtained in isolated hearts perfused with adrenochrome (an oxidized product of catecholamines). These effects were ameliorated by vitamin E. Thus, intracellular Ca²⁺ overload partially caused by defects in sarcolemmal transport, may play an important role in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy (112).

Data on expression or function of the sarcolemmal calcium pump in heart failure are not available (113).

7. THE ROLE OF PMCA IN OTHER TISSUE PATHOLOGIES

7.1. The role of PMCA in liver pathologies

In the liver, as in other organs, many cellular processes are activated by increased levels of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Amongst others, gluconeogenesis, cellular respiration, glycogenolysis and cell division are examples of Ca^{2+} -dependent processes (114). Properties of the liver plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -transport ATPase are different from those of other cell types. The liver Ca^{2+} pump is not stimulated by calmodulin. It possesses a high affinity for Ca^{2+} in the absence of modulators and it is activated by a specific protein, regucalcin (115). The enzyme is located predominantly in the blood sinusoidal endothelial fenestrae domain of the hepatocytes.

Regucalcin is a Ca^{2+} -binding protein that does not contain an EF-hand motif. Regucalcin plays an important role as a regulatory protein in Ca^{2+} signalling by activation of the PMCA pump in the basolateral membranes of liver and in renal cortex cells (115). Hepatic regucalcin mRNA expression in rats has been shown to be stimulated by various factors including Ca^{2+} , calcitonin, insulin, and estrogen. The mRNA is also expressed in hepatoma cells.

The cytoskeleton and tight junctions are important for maintenance of the polar distribution of plasma membrane proteins in bile canicular membranes of hepatocytes. As a response to cholestasis, a redistribution of a Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in hepatocytes of rat liver has been reported. However, this enzyme activity has recently been identified as an ecto Ca²⁺-ATPase (116, 117).

Mas Oliva *et al.* (118) compared the Ca²⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺-transport activity of plasma membrane fractions from normal liver, regenerating liver and from AS-30D ascites hepatocarcinoma cells. The regenerating liver and the AS-30D plasma membrane fractions presented a much lower ATPase activity than the corresponding fractions from normal liver, whereas the Ca²⁺-transport activity was similar. The authors propose

a more efficient mechanism to regulate the movement of Ca²⁺ through the Ca²⁺ pump in hepatocarcinoma cells.

The accumulation of intracellular calcium caused by ischemia/reperfusion during liver transplantation has been implicated as a factor leading to primary graft nonfunction. Porcine liver, cold-preserved on ice, did not significantly differ in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity (0.47 nmol/mg/min) from human liver. Because Ca²⁺-ATPase from rat liver was significantly higher, porcine liver may be a better model for studies of human liver. Coldpreservation experiments on porcine liver for clinically relevant periods showed a considerable decrease of plasmalemmal Ca²⁺-ATPase activity after 4 hours storage and near-complete inhibition after 12 hours, which was more pronounced than that of SERCA Ca²⁺-ATPase. This supports the hypothesis that preservation ischemia initiates time-dependent calcium accumulation with potential consequences for altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis (119).

The cellular dysfunction that eventually leads to multiple organ failure in sepsis is unclear. Sepsis is characterized by impaired hepatic glucose homeostasis and muscle protein metabolism, all processes that involve Ca²⁺. As shown by (120), the impairment of the capacity to extrude Ca²⁺ from erythrocytes as well as from liver plasma membranes appears to have a general pathophysiological significance in the development of severe sepsis. The degree of inhibition of the Ca²⁺ pump depends on the severity of the septic process, indicating that Ca²⁺ pump activity represents a potentially useful marker for general cellular dysfunction to evaluate the clinical manifestations of sepsis.

7.2. Functional alterations of PMCA in diabetes

The Ca²⁺ ion is deeply involved in the regulation of insulin secretion. Secretagogues induce a significant increase of [Ca2+]i in beta cells which is dependent on extracellular Ca²⁺. Depending on the extracellular level of glucose, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in beta cells undergoes oscillations whose duration depends on the extracellular glucose concentration (121). Beta cells and other pancreatic islet cells of pancreas contain a unique combination of PMCA pump protein isoforms, predominantly PMCA1b, 2b, 3a, 3c and 4a. Thus, many functionally distinct PMCA isoforms participate in Ca2+ homeostasis in insulin secreting cells (122, 123). It appears that cyclic Ca²⁺ entry from the extracellular space in parallel with modulation of PMCA activity and Ca²⁺ release from the ER contribute to the glucose-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺ rise (124).

The plasmalemmal Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of pancreatic islet cells is suppressed by high glucose, as can be concluded from different experimental approaches. The ATP- and Mg²⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake of purified plasma membranes is inhibited for 50% by 30 mM glucose (125). Levy *et al.* (126) incubated pancreatic islets *in vitro* in the presence of different

glucose concentrations. Increasing concentrations caused a progressive inhibition of the Ca²⁺-stimulated ATPase activity of plasma membranes isolated from these cells. In the same line, islets isolated from non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus rats had lower Ca²⁺-ATPase activity than normal controls (126). Thus, the glucose blindness of the diabetic islet may be explained as a result of defective cellular Ca²⁺ metabolism, and decreased Ca²⁺-ATPase activity may contribute to this pathology.

Cumulative evidence reveals that diabetes is a condition in which cell Ca2+ homeostasis is impaired in many cell types, confirming that this impairment is a basic phenomenon associated with diabetic status (127). Defects in cell Ca²⁺ regulation were found in erythrocytes, cardiac muscle, platelets, liver, skeletal muscle, kidney, aorta, adipocytes, osteoblasts, peripheral nerves, retinal tissue, brain and beta pancreatic cells. Although an increase in [Ca²⁺], is the most common finding, it is not always clear whether the defect in cell Ca²⁺ precedes or succeeds the diabetic condition. It is also not clear which of the transport systems for Ca²⁺ is the primary defect. As in pancreatic islets, alterations in Ca²⁺-ATPase or Ca²⁺-transport activities have been documented in plasma membranes from various tissues, both in experimentally induced diabetes and in human patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes (128, 129). Some of the changes are, however, contradictory.

Erythrocytes are the most commonly studied cell type, probably because erythrocyte membranes are the most suitable system to investigate plasmalemmal active Ca²⁺ transport. Several authors have shown that erythrocytes of diabetic patients present an increased level of intracellular Ca²⁺ and diminished Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in comparison to healthy individuals (130, 131). The activity depends on the clinical status, e.g. poorly controlled diabetic patients (132). The altered PMCA activity may indirectly contribute to the development of chronic complications of diabetes. In addition, in type 2 diabetes but not in type 1 a significant correlation between the decrease of Ca²⁺-ATPase and creatinine clearance was shown, suggesting that this activity decrease may predispose to the development of hypertension in diabetes mellitus. In human diabetes type 1, sex and parental hypertension are predictor factors correlated with a greater depression of erythrocyte Ca2+-ATPase activity and which may indirectly be linked to increased susceptibility towards vascular complication (133).

Studying erythrocytes in type 2 diabetic patients, Migdalis *et al.* (134) observed abnormalities of erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase only in those patients with peripheral neuropathy. Because erythrocyte [Ca²⁺]_i is an important regulator of erythrocyte deformability, the altered PMCA activity and associated microangiopathy is thought to participate in diabetes-induced pathogenesis of neuropathy. In another study, Muzulu *et*

al. (135) observed that both basal and calmodulinstimulated Ca²⁺ pump activities of erythrocytes were reduced in diabetic patients. Because there was no evidence for modifications of the membrane lipids, a direct effect was proposed of the diabetic condition on the Ca²⁺-pump protein itself. These results correlate with findings of (136) and (137) who demonstrated that in vitro glycation of the Ca²⁺ pump diminishes Ca²⁺-ATPase activity by up to 50%. This decrease was explained by the reaction of glucose with one essential Lys residue probably located in the vicinity of the catalytic site. The higher glucose concentration inhibits in a time-dependent manner the activity of purified Ca²⁺-ATPase reactivated by defined phospholipids, suggesting a direct glycation of the enzyme (137). This interpretation has been questioned, however, by more recent findings. Normal human red blood cells exposed to high glucose concentrations (30 -100 mM) for 6 hours in vitro did not exhibit any effect on V_{max} of PMCA. Also the mean V_{max} from diabetic subjects was not significantly different from that of controls. Results on experimental diabetes induced by streptozotocin in rats were in the same line. These studies question the previous findings and support the notion that a high glucose concentration in plasma is not a causative factor for the altered ability of red blood cells to extrude Ca²⁺

Lipoic acid lowered lipid peroxidation and protein glycosylation, and increased Na⁺-K⁺- and Ca²⁺-ATPase activities in high-glucose exposed red blood cells. This effect could be the mechanism by which lipoic acid may delay or inhibit the development of neuropathy in diabetes and may form the basis of a new therapeutic approach (139).

Lymphocytes are also affected by diabetes. Basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is elevated in diabetic type 2 subjects and is positively correlated with the glucose and hemoglobin A1c level. In addition, a significant reduction of PMCA Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity was detected in diabetic subjects compared to controls which suggests that Ca^{2+} accumulation in the cell is at least partially caused by depression of PMCA activity (140).

In renal cortical cells, Levy and Gavin (141) have shown not only a diabetes-induced decrease of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase activity but also a direct regulation of this activity by phosphorylation of the enzyme induced by insulin. They further demonstrated in genetically obese rats that loss of insulin regulation of ATPase activity may impair insulin effects and therefore contribute to insulin resistance. Contrary to this report, Evcimen *et al.* (142) observed an elevation in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity on whole kidney in streptozotocin-induced diabetes. This increase may have been caused by higher Ca²⁺ levels in diabetic kidneys resulting from a compensatory response of the enzyme to high levels of the ion.

Brain synaptic PMCA activity is inhibited by chronic hyperglycemia. The inhibition is also associated with a significant reduction of the minimum effective dose for inhalation anesthetics in experimental animals (143). Because inhalation anesthetics themselves also cause an inhibition of PMCA activity, the authors suggest that in specific brain regions PMCA could play an important role in inhalation anesthesia. Oner *et al.* (74) confirmed the diabetes-induced decrease of brain Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and in addition observed such an effect as a consequence of experimentally induced seizures.

Oxidized low density lipoproteins (LDL) probably play a pathogenic role in diabetes-induced and non-diabetes-induced atherosclerosis by damaging both endothelial barriers and blood-cell membranes. In platelets, oxidized LDL but not native LDL (in concentrations considerably below the level of circulating LDL) increases the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ content and inhibits the activity of the Ca²⁺-ATPase of the plasma membrane. Since no change in membrane fluidity was observed in platelets exposed to oxidized LDL, a direct inhibition of PMCA protein has been proposed. In clinical settings such as diabetes and hypertension, altered Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in platelets might contribute to the increase of [Ca²⁺]_i (40). LDL from normolipidemic insulin-dependent diabetic patients significantly increased the in vitro platelet aggregation response to ADP compared with platelets incubated with control LDL (144). An altered interaction between circulating lipoproteins and platelets is thus suggested as a new mechanism of the early development of atherosclerosis in diabetic patients.

In contrast to the changes induced in most other tissues, the ATP-dependent Ca2+ uptake and Ca2+-ATPase activity in sarcolemmal fractions from skeletal muscle appear to be increased in diabetic animals (145). These changes were apparent three or four weeks after streptozotocin administration. Treatment of diabetic animals with insulin for 14 days reversed the changes in Ca²⁺ transport activities toward the control levels. On the other hand, sarcolemmal Mg²⁺-ATPase and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activities remained unchanged and no difference in the sarcolemmal phospholipid composition and protein electrophoretic pattern was evident between the control and experimental groups. The higher activity of the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport is probably associated with hyperfunction of skeletal muscle in diabetic rats. However, it appears that in cardiac muscle, like in most cell types, the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ pump is defective in diabetic myocytes (146).

7.3. Abnormalities of PMCA in erythrocyte-related pathologies

Abnormalities of the Ca²⁺ pump of erythrocytes, possibly reflecting systemic alterations of the pump in other tissues as well, have been described in several disease conditions (147).

In sickle cell anemia, circulating red blood cells are heterogeneous in age, morphology, volume, membrane structure and ion transport. Much of this heterogeneity is the result of the polymerization of hemoglobin which leads to secondary abnormalities of cell ion and water content. Sickle red cells (SS cells) have an abnormally high total Ca²⁺ content which increases with reticulocyte maturation.

The oxidation of hemoglobin to methemoglobin and its degradation leads to the accumulation of hemin and free iron in the red blood cells. The Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of erythrocytes has been shown to be inhibited by different types of hemolytic amenia such as sickle cell disease or glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency. Leclerc et al. (33) have shown that the erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase activity is inhibited by hemin, the ferric protoporphyrin IX (FP) complex. Because the inhibition of the enzyme was partially restored by the reducing agent dithiotreitol, it was concluded that hemin induces the oxidation of thiol groups of the protein. The next Leclerc study (148) demonstrated that non-heme iron also inhibits the calmodulin stimulation of the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. In contrast with hemin, the non-heme iron inhibition is prevented by butylated hydroxytoluen, a protective agent of lipoperoxidation, and dithiotreitol does not restore the enzyme activity.

High levels of membrane-bound ferriprotoporphyrin IX (FP) and non-heme iron have been found in abnormal red cells such as SS cells and malaria-infected red cells, associated with a reduced life span. Although previous in vitro studies have shown that FP and non-heme iron have a marked inhibitory effect on the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of isolated red cell membranes (33, 148), Tiffert et al. (149) have shown that in intact SS cells, FP and non-heme iron are unlikely to play a significant role in the altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis of abnormal red cells. On the other hand, a new route via activation of protein kinase C alpha (PKC) directly stimulating the Ca²⁺ pump and preventing cell dehydration has been proposed in SS cells (150). A higher level of PKC alpha and PKC zeta expressed in SS cells directly stimulates the Ca²⁺ pump and inhibits deoxygenation-induced K+ efflux in SS cells.

Romero and Romero (151) point to difficulties with studies in an animal model of sickle anemia. Transgenic mice that express high levels of human alpha H and beta S-chains had a relatively small percentage of dense cells and do not exhibit anemia. Although the cells have a similar Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel activity to human SS cells, they express a very high Ca²⁺-pump activity. These properties may contribute to the smaller percentage of very dense cells and to the lack of adult anemia in this animal model.

Abnormalities in erythrocyte Ca²⁺ homeostasis are associated also with other pathologies. Familial

phosphofructokinase deficiency is linked with an increased energy demand by the Ca^{2+} pump to compensate the dissipating Ca^{2+} gradient across the plasma membrane in human erythrocytes. The disease is associated with disturbed Ca^{2+} homeostasis, alterations of the intracellular volume of red blood cells, and activation of the Gardos effect. The concomitant hemolysis may be explained by a diminished erythrocyte deformability due to Ca^{2+} overload (152).

Erythrocyte membranes in protein-energy malnutrition (kwashiorkor- KWA) which is clinically linked with anemia contain a detectable amount of nonheme iron which causes lipid peroxidation and impairment of membrane functions. In addition, isolated KWA membranes are more susceptible to oxidative stress which is expressed in a lower affinity of the Ca²⁺-ATPase for ATP and calmodulin. The excessive generation of ROS and the higher sensitivity of the membranes to oxidative stress may be responsible for the altered red blood cell Ca²⁺ homeostasis in this pathology (153).

Tarui's disease is another pathology with increased Ca²⁺ content of erythrocytes. Due to the enhanced erythrocyte Ca²⁺ permeability in all patients, compensatory mechanisms such as increased Ca²⁺ pump activity are proposed to be initiated (154).

Clinically very interesting is the toxic effect of chronic exposure to low lead concentrations in the environment. Human patients with lead toxicity develop hematological, gastrointestinal and neurological dysfunction. In 247 mothers and their newborns, maternal and cord blood has been sampled at delivery. Erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase activity was correlated with the lead content in the blood. The results have shown that the level of lead in maternal and cord blood and mothers' hair was negatively correlated with the red blood cell Ca²⁺-ATPase activity, suggesting that lead toxicity can at least in part be explained by the inhibition of the red blood cell Ca²⁺-ATPase (155).

An abnormal red-cell Ca²⁺ pump has also been found in idiopathic hypercalciuria, a common disorder with possible enzyme abnormalities in Ca²⁺ transport. Erythrocytes in patients with hypercalciuria and history of calcium oxalate kidney stones expressed an increased Ca²⁺-ATPase activity compared to healthy controls. Interestingly, urinary calcium excretion correlated well with the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity, suggesting a relation between Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and hypercalciuria (156). However, in a more recent study (157), a group of twenty-four children with idiopathic hypercalciuria did not show any changes in the abundance of erythrocyte PMCA protein or in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity compared to control children.

Friedrichs and Wurz (158) have pointed to an interesting aspect of the erythrocytes of children

patients. The calmodulin-stimulated red-cell Ca²⁺-pump activity was higher in females than in males. There were no differences in basal ATPase activity. The basal activity of PMCA in children up to the age of 7 years was higher than that of adults. A distinct increase in activation by calmodulin was observed with a maximum at the age range of 8-13 years. These data should be taken into account for the setting of normal values of the population.

An alteration in the Ca^{2+} pump in red blood cells (higher V_{max} , lower K_m) has been described in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (159). The change was specific for Duchenne dystrophy because it did not occur in other forms of dystrophy.

In patients with bipolar illness there is a much greater scatter in the Ca^{2+} dependence and calmodulin sensitivity of the Ca^{2+} pump than in normal subjects (160). Meltzer *et al.* (161) reported that the activity of erythrocyte calmodulin-stimulated Ca^{2+} -ATPase is higher in lithium-treated bipolar subjects than in normal controls, or than in bipolar subjects treated with psychotropic medications without lithium. This difference was due an increase of the number of Ca^{2+} pumps.

Analysis of Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity of red-cell membranes from patients with cystic fibrosis revealed a reduced activity (162). A lower V_{max} of ATP hydrolysis was also observed by (163). However, it can be questioned whether these effects occur specifically on the PMCA pump because of the general disturbance of the membrane lipid environment in this pathology.

Young and old human red blood cells, separated on Percoll gradients have been compared with respect to osmotically-induced Ca²⁺ entry and Ca²⁺ extrusion. The selective blockade of Ca²⁺ influx by Gd³⁺ suggests the presence of mechano-sensitive channels, that become preferentially activated in old cells and may explain the increased Ca²⁺ content of senescent cells (164). In addition, either at pH 7.0 or 7.4, the maximal Ca2+ extrusion rate (PMCA activity) in older (dense) cells was only one-half of that in younger cells (164). The results demonstrate that the elevated [Ca²⁺]_i in senescent cells, arises in part from a reduction in Ca² extrusion (PMCA) capacity during aging. Xanthine derivatives affect erythrocyte deformability and Ca²⁺ entry pathways and are used in the treatment of peripheral vascular disorders seen in elderly people and several pathologies. Pentoxyphilline (0.5 -5 mM), a dimethylxanthine, added directly to the assay medium activates the Ca²⁺-ATPase of inside-out red-blood cell vesicles of young and old patients. However the activation was age-related with the greater percentage of activation in vesicles from erythrocytes of older patients. Pentoxyphilline also affected Ca²⁺ uptake activity. The early burst of Ca2+ uptake decreased in the vesicles from young but not from older erythrocytes (165).

7.4. Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump in kidney disorders

In the mammalian nephron, 95 percent or more of the Ca²⁺ filtered in glomeruli is reabsorbed in tubular segments. Although a substantial portion of the tubular reabsorption, especially in the proximal part, is a passive process, there is a considerable contribution of PMCA pumps to the overall absorption. The Ca²⁺-ATPase activity overlaps with the cellular localization of mRNAs encoding PMCA proteins. PMCA1 is a house-keeping form, mostly present in non-epithelial interstitial cells of glomeruli. PMCA2 is detected in epithelial cells of cortical tubules. PMCA3 is located mainly in the outer medulla (166) and thin descending loop of Henle (167). PMCA4 is present in the outer medullary zone. In kidney tubular cells, as in intestinal epithelia, calcitriol and vitamin D₃ upregulate the expression and the activity of the 1b isoform of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump (168). In MDCK (Madin-Darby canine kidney) cells, a model of distal tubular cells, it has recently been shown for the first time that Ca²⁺ inhibits its own transcellular transport. This inhibition is mediated by a Ca2+-sensing receptor which inhibits in a concentration-dependent manner PMCA activity, via phospholipase C-dependent pathways (169).

The expression of PMCA isoforms can be selectively modulated by pathophysiological stimuli. Unlike the constant expression level of PMCA1 and PMCA4 isotypes, the expression of PMCA2 and PMCA3 in tubules has been shown to be depressed in hypercalciuric rats (induced by feeding with a low-phosphate diet) compared to hypocalciuric rats. In brain and liver, however, PMCA2 and PMCA3 were unchanged, suggesting a specific role for these isoforms in tubular Ca²⁺ reabsorption (170).

Familial benign hypercalcemia (FBH) has been associated with defects in parathyroid-gland regulation, intrinsic renal hyperreabsorption of Ca²⁺, and global defects in cellular Ca²⁺-ATPase activities. The latter hypothesis was tested by measuring Ca²⁺-transport activity in erythrocytes and its correlation with serum calcium and serum parathyroid hormone levels in patients with FBH or primary hyperparathyroidism. The results have shown that some other mechanism than a global defect in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity is responsible for the hypercalcemia in patients with FBH (171).

A significantly increased level of kidney calcium in parallel with an elevated level of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity has been observed in kidney basolateral membranes in rats after 2 to 7 days of high-saline ingestion. This activity was not directly affected by NaCl, parathyroid hormone or calcitonin. On the other hand, the expression of mRNA for the Ca²⁺-binding protein regucalcin was markedly suppressed, suggesting that saline ingestion causes the disturbance of the Ca²⁺

transport system in the kidney cortex of rats, and that the renal disorder may induce hypercalcemia (172).

Hypercalciuria, hypomagnesia and bone mineral loss due to altered divalent cation homeostasis have been associated with human diabetes mellitus. As shown in a diabetic model, rats made diabetic by chronic (2 weeks) steptozotocin administration did not present any changes in the levels of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump in whole kidney. Thus, the findings support the notion that PMCA pump in kidneys plays only a marginal role in the altered divalent cation homeostasis in diabetes (173).

Proteinuria is a disorder correlated with interstitial inflammation and fibrosis, hypertension and with progression to end-stage renal disease. In response to excessive protein levels, the tubular epithelium releases factor(s) which correlate with renal insufficiency and may contribute to some of these complications. Proteinuric urine contains a small lipidic factor that acts as a powerful specific inhibitor of the Ca²⁺ pump of red blood cells. This inhibitor had little or no effect on the Na+-K+-ATPase (174). The factor is present in the circulation since hemodialysis returns the activity to normal levels. Because the Ca2+ pump is ubiquitous, an inhibitor secreted into the urine may affect other cells and contribute to the progress of the renal disease. When reaching the circulation it may exert systemic effects on target cell Ca²⁺ homeostasis like smooth-muscle cells and cause hypertension.

Circulating inhibitors of the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} pump have been identified also in chronic renal failure. Chromatography and mass spectrometry of ultrafiltrate identified three factors all of which were sufficiently lipophilic to penetrate the blood-brain barrier and to accumulate in cerebral tissue (175). All factors were additive in their inhibitory effect on PMCA activity with a non-competitive mechanism of action. These inhibitors may play a role in the pathophysiology of cellular Ca^{2+} metabolism in renal failure. In very recent work Jankowski *et al.* (176) have characterized an inhibitor as p-hydroxy-hippuric acid. Erythrocyte Ca^{2+} -ATPase has been shown to be inhibited by this compound at a concentration above 11.7 μ mol/L by reducing the V_{max} and increasing the K_m value.

Adenosine, a potent autacoid produced and released in the kidney, affects nearly all aspects of renal function. In addition, an increase in $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]_i$ has been implicated in adenosine effects. Adenosine exerts a biphasic influence on the $\text{Ca}^{2+}\text{-ATPase}$ activity of basolateral membranes of kidney proximal tubules. Inhibition occurs at up to 0.1 μM and then gradually disappears. The effect is mediated by both A1 (inhibitory) and A2 (stimulatory) receptors. By using toxins, it was shown that a G-protein mediated pathway is involved that also encompasses a phospholipase C and a protein kinase C (177).

In uremic patients, the Ca^{2+} content in erythrocytes is elevated. Shalev (178) has shown that the Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity of the erythrocytes is decreased. It is suggested that the increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ found in other tissues in uremia is the result of the systemic malfunction of PMCAs.

7.5. Abnormalities of PMCA function in hypertension

The cell types most directly involved in the hypertensive state are vascular smooth-muscle cells and cardiac muscle cells. In addition to altered contractile properties, blood vessels from hypertensive animals present an increased wall thickness. Because $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ regulates both tension and growth, altered Ca^{2+} levels have been a focus of attention in several laboratories. When an increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ has been detected, the question has been addressed whether this is caused by an increased Ca^{2+} influx or a decreased efflux. In the first case, any increase of PMCA expression could be the result of a compensatory mechanism. In the latter case, a decrease of PMCA function could be a causative factor.

The canine vascular wall contains at least two types of smooth-muscle cells: type 1 cells express muscle-specific proteins and do not proliferate in culture, type 2 cells do not express muscle-specific proteins and proliferate in culture. Both cell types express PMCA1 and PMCA4b. PMCA4a is absent from type 2 cells but it is upregulated in these cells upon placement in culture. The upregulation is inhibited by phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitors (179).

Both elevated Ca^{2+} -pump-mediated Ca^{2+} efflux and elevated PMCA1 and SERCA2 mRNA levels have been observed in cultured aortic smooth-muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats compared to those from the normal Wistar strain (180, 181). Angiotensin II increased the level of PMCA1 and SERCA2 mRNA in both strains. This study provided evidence for altered Ca^{2+} homeostasis in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model affecting Ca^{2+} transport ATPases at the transcriptional and functional level. It is also consistent with the hypothesis on the connected expression of these two Ca^{2+} pumps (182).

In spontaneously hypertensive rats and hereditary cardiomyopathic hamsters, activities of both plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase and Na^{+} - K^{+} -ATPase in crude myocardial homogenates have been shown to be depressed to 50 and 26 percent respectively, compared to age-matched healthy animals (183). The decrease was selective in relation to overall protein content. Reduced Na^{+} - K^{+} -ATPase and Ca^{2+} -ATPase activities may thus be important for the development of heart failure and arrhythmia in hypertrophic heart disease. In a recent study with human subjects, however, mRNAs for both the $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ subunits of Na^{+} pump as well as for PMCA isoforms were significantly increased in the right atrium of hypertensives compared to control subjects.

This suggests a compensatory mechanism to overcome defective ion metabolism in hypertensives (184).

A dysregulated Ca²⁺ homeostasis in other tissues than smooth or cardiac muscle, could point to a general causative defect contributing to the pathogenesis of hypertension. Such studies have mainly been conducted on red blood cells. Work on human hypertensive subjects yielded controversial results, with either a decreased or unaltered Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and/or Ca²⁺-pump protein density (180, 185 - 188).

The consequences of other pathologies may add up with hypertension in affecting plasmalemmal ${\rm Ca^{2^+}}$ -ATPase activity. Diabetes mellitus type 1 in combination with hypertension has been shown to further reduce ${\rm Ca^{2^+}}$ -ATPase activity. This effect was more pronounced in women than in men (133). Interestingly, treatment of hypertension by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors causes a long-term enhancement of the pump activity of erythrocytes (189).

In children of essential-hypertensive patients, erythrocyte $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is elevated. These children also showed decreased erythrocyte Ca^{2+} -ATPase activities, suggesting that decreased PMCA function may be one of the mechanisms (190). Parental hypertension was also shown to be a predictor of reduced erythrocyte Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity (133).

Studies on synaptosomes revealed reduced Ca²⁺-transport activity mediated by PMCA in spontaneously hypertensive rats (191). In addition, requirements for several volatile anesthetics were also markedly reduced in these hypertensive animals.

A positive correlation has been found in hypertensive black South-Africans between hypertension and the intracellular Ca^{2^+} in erythrocytes and platelets, and a negative correlation with the Mg^{2^+} and K^+ concentration in plasma. In line with these findings, it has been demonstrated that platelet and erythrocytic Na^+ - K^+ -ATPase and Ca^{2^+} -ATPase activities were significantly depressed, which probably reflects a membrane abnormality in hypertensives (192).

By studying the expression of SERCA and PMCA isoforms in platelets from hypertensive rats, Martin *et al.* (193) have shown that hypertension modulates the expression of mRNA of PMCA and SERCA in an opposite direction. Hypertension induces a decrease of PMCA1b expression and an increase of PMCA4b mRNA. Concomitantly SERCA3b/3c is downregulated and SERCA3a increases in this pathology. Hence, PMCA and SERCA proteins should be regarded as constituting a new rational basis for the understanding of non-muscle cell Ca²⁺ signaling especially in platelets in hypertension.

Hypertension is a risk factor for thrombotic events. The early reports have shown that human megakaryoblastic cells (platelet precursor cells) and mature platelets express PMCA1, PMCA2 and PMCA4 isoforms (194). However, using more specific antibodies, it has been recognized that platelet precursor cells express also isoform hPMCA1b which is of smaller size than that seen in HeLa and COS-7 cells, indicating the presence of a modified form of hPMCA1b. In mature platelets, no evidence of the expression of hPMCA1b could be found. In general, the amount of all PMCA forms in precursor cells decreases dramatically during maturation and is lower than SERCA2b or the amount of PMCA in human erythrocytes (195). Platelets of hypertensive individuals exhibit both increased [Ca²⁺]_i and enhanced sensitivity to agonists. It was demonstrated that platelet PMCA Ca²⁺-ATPase activity inversely correlates with diastolic blood pressure and that inhibition of this Ca^{2+} pump could explain the elevation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} in hypertension. Interestingly, it was recently shown that platelet PMCA can be phosphorylated on tyrosine residues thereby inhibiting the activity. Tyrosine phosphorylation was increased in hypertensive humans, suggesting a causal link with increased platelet [Ca²⁺]_i, hyperactive platelets and increased risk of stroke (196).

Pregnancy produces profound modifications of the platelet plasma membrane, one of which is an enhanced PMCA Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. Hypertension induced by pregnancy (PIH) further enhances PMCA Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of maternal platelets. In addition, PIH increases membrane fluidity due to alteration of the ratio between unsaturated and saturated fatty acids (197).

One of the polymorphism's of the PMCA1 gene in humans has been investigated for a possible correlation with essential hypertension. T to G transversion has been identified resulting in the substitution of a methionine by an arginine at aminoacid position 267 in a highly conserved domain of the pump molecule. Neither this mutation nor differences in single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) or in heteroduplex (HTX) analysis could be identified between hypertensives and normotensives groups (198, 199).

This survey has shown that PMCA levels are altered in hypertension. A decrease was consistently observed in erythrocytes, and in most studies also in platelets. However, PMCA levels were increased in cultured smooth-muscle cells of the vascular wall and in cardiac atrium. Because smooth-muscle cells are intimately involved in the regulation of blood pressure, the work on cultured cells needs to be supplemented with experiments on freshly isolated tissue samples.

7.6. Disturbances in vitamin D dependent PMCA modulation

In the intestine, transcellular transport of calcium probably involves three steps: i) passive Ca²⁺ entry into the enterocyte ii) translocation of Ca²⁺ through its cytosol, probably bound to the Ca2+-binding protein calbindin iii) active extrusion of Ca2+ across the basolateral membrane by an active transport process driven by ATP (mediated by PMCA pumps). Human and rat intestinal mucosal cells contain predominantly the PMCA1b isoform. Reflecting the capacity of the different small-intestinal segments to transport Ca²⁺, much higher levels of transcript were detected proximally (in duodenum) than distally (in jejunum and ileum). Levels were also higher in caecum and ascending colon mucosa than in descending colon (200). These data confirm the importance of the transcriptional regulation of PMCA genes (201).

The vitamin D dependency of the overall absorption of Ca^{2+} is well documented. In addition to vitamin D status, the capacity of Ca^{2+} absorption is influenced by dietary intake of Ca^{2+} and phosphorus. Vitamin D replenishment is linked with significant increase of PMCA pumps and calbindin D_{28K} , a vitamin D dependent Ca^{2+} -binding protein, in mucosal cell by a factor of 2-3. Likewise, it seems that dietary variables that enhance Ca^{2+} absorption also increase the amount of PMCA pump protein (202, 203).

Ca²⁺ absorption declines with age. This is due to decreased expression of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump mRNA and protein, along with calbindin mRNA and protein, and the declining response of Ca²⁺ absorption to vitamin D₃ with age (204). In rats, the decline is substantial and amounts to a decrease by 90 percent in the duodenum and 65 percent in the ileum between 2 and 12 month of age. In addition, the capacity of vitamin D to increase PMCA pump protein is decreased by 61 percent in the adult compared to young animals, which correlates with the decreased capacity of vitamin D to stimulate Ca²⁺ transport in adults. The expression level of Ca²⁺ influx channel (epithelial calcium channel ECaC) of the apical membrane was found to be variable but to correlate closely with that of the PMCA pump. This may contribute to the individual variability in calcium absorption in humans (205).

Horst *et al.* (206) compared the relative effect of $1,24(OH)_2D$ vitamin D_2 , $1,24(OH)_2$ vitamin D_3 and $1,25(OH)_2$ vitamin D_3 in 7-week-old rats on duodenal PMCA mRNA. All metabolites elevated the mRNA levels to a similar extent.

The regulation of PMCA expression by vitamin D is generally present in transporting epithelia such as in intestine, kidney and bone mesenchymal cells. mRNA levels of calbindin D, a vitamin D3 dependent Ca^{2^+} -binding protein 28k (CaBP $_{28\text{K}}$), PMCA1 and PMCA4 have been studied in distal convoluted cells in hypertensive and normotensive Wistar-Kyoto rats.

PMCA2 and PMCA4 were not different in the two strains. However, at the protein level, calbindin- D_{28K} protein was more abundant, and PMCA protein was decreased in hypertensives, suggesting that the decreased PMCA level in distal cells may be responsible for the hypercalciuria in hypertensive rats (207).

In addition to vitamin D, prolactin has been proposed as calcium regulating substance during pregnancy and lactation. Prolactin directly stimulates Ca^{2+} transport in duodenum of female rats. Because the effect is inhibited by a calmodulin antagonist at the serosal side, PMCA activity could be involved in the effect (208).

7.7. PMCA modulation in other calcium transporting tissues

The influx of large quantities of calcium and phosphate in the enamel and dentin matrices of developing teeth suggests that the formative cells may have a regulatory role in the mineralization processes. Ameloblasts which border the enamel-forming surface undergo complex changes during the secretion and enamel maturation stages in which enamel acquires the bulk of its mineral content. While the enamel forming cells supply calcium, they must avoid the cytotoxic effects of excess Ca²⁺. Disrupted Ca²⁺ transport could contribute to a variety of developmental defects in enamel. The molecular machinery is a potential target for drugs to improve enamel quality (209). The presence of PMCA has been cytochemically demonstrated in both ameloblasts. maturating secreting and immunological study of (210) suggests a close correlation between the progression of mineralization of enamel and dentin and the amount of epitopes of PMCA pump protein. In addition to regulation of intracellular Ca²⁺, PMCA may thus play a role in the regulation of the delivery of Ca²⁺ to the mineralizing enamel and dentin.

Chronic adult periodontitis is known to produce cytokines in response to changing levels of bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS). In gingival fibroblasts, changes in PMCA content alter several Ca²⁺-dependent activities, including the production and release of cytokines. Fibroblasts from chronic adult periodontitis patients exhibited significantly lower levels of Ca²⁺-pump protein than fibroblasts from healthy subjects. However, bacterial LPS alone did not affect significantly the amount of PMCA protein. This suggest that molecular factors other than LPS may be involved in the specific down-regulation of the Ca²⁺ pump in periodontitis (211).

Also in bone–forming cells several PMCA isoforms are expressed (212 - 214).

During lactation, the mammary gland transports large amount of Ca^{2+} from the blood to milk via alveolar

cells. The Ca2+ content of most extramammary tissue increases more than 12 fold at the time of initiation of lactation. The control of [Ca²⁺]_i essential to normal cell function requires the concerted effort of several Ca²⁺-ATPases. Three mRNAs for plasma membrane Ca2+-ATPases (PMCA1b, PMCA2b and PMCA4b) and two mRNAs for SERCAs (SERCA2 and SERCA3) and the rat homologue to the yeast Golgi Ca2+-ATPase have been identified by RT-PCR analysis. Generally, transcripts increased from the 7th day of pregnancy to the 14th day of lactation. The PMCA2b is the most abundant transcript and at the peak of lactation its levels approached that of actin. The presence of PMCA2b in lactating glands is of particular interest, since this isoform was observed in significant amount only in brain and nervous tissue. The very high affinity of PMCA2 for Ca2+ and calmodulin indicates that like in brain, PMCA-mediated Ca2+ extrusion is extremely effective also in mammary glands (215).

Similarly to kidney and intestine, PMCA immunolabeling is conspicuous in basal (fetal facing) layers of placental syncytiotrophoblasts, a site of translocation of large amounts of Ca²⁺ (216). The ratio of calbindin_{9K} mRNA level to beta actin mRNA increased 135 fold during gestation in rats and was associated with materno-fetal clearance of calcium (217). However, the ratio of PMCA to actin rose only two to three times. Thus, its seems that expression of the calbindingk but not PMCA is rate-limiting for placental Ca²⁺ transport in the rat. During gestation in humans, however, PMCA levels did not change. There was however a clear activation of Ca2+ transport in isolated basal membrane vesicles (218). Placental trophoblasts from preeclamptic women express a 50 percent lower Ca²⁺-ATPase activity compared to normotensive pregnant women (219). The pathophysiological meaning of this observation is, however, not clear.

PMCA protein is also present in mammalian eye tissue. As documented by immunofluorescent study, in the normal corneal epithelium, both plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} -pump and caveolin are located along the cell surface. In the regenerating epithelium after injury, plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} -pump stains as many dots in the cytoplasm around the plasma membrane. In contrast, caveolin persisted along the cell surface and remained in caveolae. When the wound closes, the Ca^{2+} -pump regains its normal distribution. This indicates that caveolae undergo compositional modification during the healing process and that the phenomenon may be related to possible fluctuations of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in the regenerating epithelium (220).

The clarity of the lens is a prerequisite for normal vision and is dependent on maintenance of intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis. Ca^{2+} -ATPase present in lens epithelium is essential for the removal of cytosolic Ca^{2+} . Human lens membranes prepared from cataractous lenses express only approximately 50% of the Ca^{2+} -

ATPase activity as measured by $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP hydrolysis compared to healthy individuals (221). In addition, order in the lipid hydrocarbon chains increased from 55% in clear lens fibers to 84% in cataractous lens fibers, suggesting that membranes are deranged in cataractous tissue probably by oxidation. This should lead to altered levels of Ca²⁺. The hypothesis has been substantiated by in vitro oxidation of lens epithelial membranes by the Fe²⁺/Fe³⁺ and ascorbate system. The level of Ca²⁺-ATPase inhibition and the degree of lipid hydrocarbon chain order correlated well with lipid oxidation and ascorbate concentration. The mechanism of Ca²⁺-ATPase inhibition as probed by SH compounds like glutathione which reverse the inhibition suggests a direct oxidation of protein sulhydryls, not a secondary process involving oxidation-induced lipid structural changes or products of lipid oxidation (222). Binding of lens alpha cristallin *in vitro* to the membrane lipids did not protect the Ca²⁺ ATPase from thermal or oxidative damage (223).

The blood-brain barrier and blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier are involved in the long-term regulation of the concentration of Ca^{2+} and K^+ in the whole brain and CSF. The plasma membrane Ca^{2+} pump is located on the apical membrane of the choroid plexus (CSF facing) membrane (224). Only a limited number of papers deal with the role of PMCA in the choroid plexus in pathological states. The importance of PMCA at the blood-CSF and blood-brain barrier has been examined in brain Ca²⁺ homeostasis in dietary acquired hypo- and hypercalcinemia (225). Western blot analysis revealed that the amount of PMCA protein in the choroid plexus did not vary with the plasma Ca²⁺ concentration. In contrast, in cerebral microvessels from hypocalcemic rats a 150 percent increase of PMCA molecules was found. The location of the PMCA at the blood brain barrier has not been firmly established although there is evidence for an abluminal (brain facing) Ca2+-ATPase distribution (226), which could suggest that the increase in the amount of PMCA in the microvessels in hypocalcemia would contribute to maintain Ca²⁺ flux from blood to brain.

8. ALTERATIONS OF PMCA IN AGING

Biological aging is a fundamental process that results in a progressive decline in cellular function. There is a possible linkage between the energetic costs associated mainly with the maintenance of the intracellular $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ gradient necessary for cellular signaling, oxidative damage and the loss of physiological responses associated with aging. Thus, oxidative stress, and the loss of $\mathrm{Ca^{2^+}}$ regulation are implicated as primary factors associated with degeneration including aging (61). The cellular alterations with progressing age involve mechanisms which are still unresolved.

8.1. Effect of aging on PMCA in neuronal cells

In a series of papers Michaelis's group has described that as a function of aging both the activity

and membrane levels of the brain PMCA Ca^{2+} -ATPase are significantly reduced in both Fischer 344 and the longer lived Fischer 344/Brown Norway hybrid rats (227, 228). In addition, PMCA pump activity from 34 month old animals showed a decrease of V_{max} from 60.9 to 32.4 nmol/mg/min with no change in affinity for Ca^{2+} partly due to a decreased level of calmodulin and its ability to stimulate PMCA activity in old animals (229).

The PMCA pump is very sensitive to inhibition by RO(N)S in vitro and hence may be a target of oxidative stress in the aging brain. In addition, the loss of PMCA immunoreactivity after exposure to ONOO suggests that this radical induces fragmentation of the PMCA protein (47). Since the increase in hydrophobic interactions, carbonyl groups and nitrotyrosine formation have been reported for various proteins in aged tissues, it is possible that increased oxidative stress in the aging brain can also lead to modifications of PMCA proteins. Similarly to the effect of in vitro oxidative stress (47), a decrease of the Ca²⁺-ATPase activity has been observed in aged rats (230). Calcium content in brain tissue was also significantly raised in aged rats (50 weeks) as compared to young animals (5 weeks). As shown by using SH-group modifying factors there were no differences in extent of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity inhibition between aged and young groups, suggesting that SH groups in active sites of the enzyme are probably not impaired in aging. Interestingly, also the ability of the Ca²⁺-ATPase to respond to signaling factors such as cAMP and calmodulin, decreased or disappeared. The findings at least partially explain mechanisms aging-induced causing calcium accumulation in brain (230).

As reviewed recently, post-translational structural changes of critical Ca^{2+} -regulatory proteins such as calmodulin have been identified which result in the inability to activate a range of target proteins, including the PMCA pump (61). Oxidation of multiple methionines to corresponding methionine sulfoxides within calmodulin during aging leads to a nonproductive and conformationally disordered complex with PMCA protein. In contrast to the results with calmodulin obtained from senescent Fischer 344 rats, calmodulin isolated from the long-lived Fischer 344/BNF1 is not oxidatively modified in animals that are 34 months old. In addition, in Fischer 344 rat brain there is a large decrease in the function of the 20S proteasome, which in vitro selectively degrades oxidized calmodulin. Thus, these findings indicate that structural and functional changes of calmodulin and PMCA protein are consistent with the observed decreases in Ca2+ regulation in senescent animals (61, 231).

In the hippocampus of senescence-accelerated P8 mice, the levels of protein kinase C gamma and of calbindin decline markedly with age. However, the level of total PMCA molecules did not change significantly with age (232). Because in this study antibodies were

used which recognized all PMCA isoforms, the possibility that individual isoforms do change with age is not excluded.

Our unpublished data also indicate possible conformational alterations of the protein molecules or age-related protein modifications of the ion-transport ATPases which may contribute to age-induced changes in hippocampal function.

8.2. Effect of aging on PMCA in other cell types

A general response to aging in myocardial cells is a prolonged excitation-contraction coupling cycle. At the transcriptional level, the density of the SERCA Ca²⁺ pump was reduced as a consequence of the downregulation of the gene (233). Only one paper deals with the effect of aging on PMCA in myocardial cells. Frolkis et al. (234) in a study of myocardial hypertrophy induced by aorta coarctation proposed a role of molecular intracellular regulators which increase the activities of the Na⁺-K⁺-pump or the plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ pump. They showed in adult rats (6 - 8 months) that coarctation induces an increase of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺-ATPase activities, whereas in old rats only the Ca²⁺-ATPase is affected. Because the effects can be mimicked by addition of isolated cytosol to control membranes, the authors propose that aorta coarctation induces the synthesis of activators in adult rats. Because cytosol of old animals after coarctation did not activate the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, but was shown to activate the Ca²⁺-ATPase, the authors suggested the occurrence of two different regulators.

9. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Ca²⁺ homeostasis is crucial for cell function and survival. Local Ca²⁺ signalling requires systems for both the entry and the removal of Ca²⁺ maintained under precise spatial and temporal control. Mechanisms that regulate cellular Ca²⁺ have been studied extensively, and remarkable progress has been made in understanding their roles also in pathological conditions. Although the general function of PMCA is well documented, much less is known about the role of specific PMCA isoforms, their spatial organization and especially their contribution to the onset and progress of pathological conditions.

Up till now no human disease has been linked to a defect in any of the PMCA genes, which could be indicative of a high degree of redundancy of the functions of each isoform. However, molecular biology techniques have given striking examples of the indispensability of specific gene products for several physiological functions. The PMCA2 isoform in the ear is a striking example.

Alterations of PMCA isoform expression at the transcriptional level have been described in response to

a variety of factors, among them Ca^{2+} itself, vitamin D and steroids. In Ca^{2+} -transporting epithelia, PMCA expression is increased by vitamin D. PMCA expression in these cells decreases with age, as does the response to vitamin D. Effects of steroids have been observed in the brain and neurons in culture. Ca^{2+} itself affects the expression of PMCA2 and PMCA3 in neurons and this effect appears to be an essential component in differentiation and survival following Ca^{2+} overload. Alterations of PMCA transcription may also occur in hypertension, atherosclerosis and aging.

Non-genetic alterations of PMCA activity may be an important factor contributing to pathological conditions, especially in acute dysfunctions like those initiated by Ca2+ overload and/or oxidative stress. In addition, structural and functional modifications of PMCA molecules in cells from different tissues by external or internal oxidative agents may contribute to slowly progressing pathologies such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, degeneration and aging. Ca2+ is also an essential component of the pathway leading to cellular death. Proteolysis of PMCAs has been observed in apoptotic conditions. Diabetes mellitus is another condition with impaired Ca²⁺ homeostasis and in which PMCA activity is decreased, not only in pancreatic beta cells but in erythrocytes as well. Oxidative damage to PMCA has been considered as a causative factor for the abnormally high Ca²⁺ content in sickle cell anemia. Abnormalities of the Ca²⁺ pump of erythrocytes often seem to parallel alterations of the pump in other tissues, such that increased erythrocyte Ca²⁺ content and depressed Ca²⁺-ATPase activity is a common response to diverse diseases.

The cell types most directly involved in the hypertensive state are vascular smooth muscle cells and myocardial cells. As there appears to be an increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in hypertension, an elevation of mRNA and protein for PMCA1 and PMCA4b could be a general response probably as the result of compensatory mechanisms. In cells of other tissues, such as red blood cells and platelets, a depression of Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity is observed. This raises the question whether these changes could play any role in hypertension-related risk factors like thrombosis and whether PMCA and SERCA Ca^{2+} pumps can be considered as prospective therapeutic targets.

The regulation of PMCA expression by vitamin D in transporting epithelia is generally observed. PMCA expression and the response to vitamin D decline with age. In addition, the expression and functional state of PMCA protein is influenced by other pathogenic factors such as mineral dysregulation.

Depressed Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in aging may not only occur at the level of the PMCA protein itself, but may also be caused by structural oxidative changes of critical regulatory proteins such as calmodulin.

Investigation of pathology-induced changes in the level and activity of PMCA Ca^{2+} pumps may help to identify patterns that are specific for vulnerable and resistant cells. Knowledge of such a pattern would greatly assist the development of specific therapeutic strategies to activate recovery of Ca^{2+} extrusion and help to establish whether these changes are of relevance to the pathological process leading to cell injury.

10. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by Slovak VEGA Grant (7417/20) to J.L.

11. REFERENCES

- 1. Penniston J T & A. Enyedi: Modulation of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump. *J Membr Biol* 165, 101-109 (1998)
- 2. Strehler E E & D.A. Zacharias: Role of alternative splicing in generating isoform diversity among plasma membrane calcium pumps. *Physiol Rev* 81, 21-50 (2001)
- 3. Lehotsky J: Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump: Functional specialization in the brain. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* 25, 175-187 (1995)
- 4. Kozel P J, R.A. Friedman, L.C. Erway, E.N. Yamoah, L.H. Liu, T. Riddle, J.J. Duffy, T. Doetschman, M.L. Miller, E.L. Cardell & G.E. Shull GE: Balance and hearing deficits in mice with a null mutation in the gene encoding plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform. *J Biol Chem* 273, 18693-18696 (1998)
- 5. Street V A, J.W. McKee-Johnson, R.C. Fonseca, B.L. Tempel & K. Noben-Trauth K: Mutations in a plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase gene cause deafness in deafwaddler mice. *Nat Genet* 19, 390-394 (1998)
- 6. Takahashi K & K. Kitamura: A point mutation in a plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase gene causes deafness in Wriggle Mouse Sagami. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 261, 773-778 (1999)
- 7. Kraev A, N. Kraev & E. Carafoli: Identification and functional expression of the plasma membrane calcium ATPase gene family from Caenorhabditis elegans. *J Biol Chem* 274, 4254-4258 (1999)
- 8. Crouch J J & B.A. Schulte: Expression of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in the adult and developing gerbil cochlea. *Hear Res* 92, 112-119 (1995)
- 9. Garcia M L & E. E. Strehler: Plasma membrane calcium ATPases as critical regulators of calcium homeostasis during neuronal cell function. *Front Biosci* 4, D869-882 (1999)

- 10. Agrup C, D. Bagger-Sjoback & J. Fryckstedt: Presence of plasma membrane-bound Ca²⁺-ATPase in the secretory epithelia of the inner ear. *Acta Otolaryngol* 119, 437-445 (1999)
- 11. Konrad-Martin D, S.J. Norton, K.E. Mascher & B.L. Tempel: Effects of PMCA2 mutation on DPOAE amplitudes and latencies in deafwaddler mice. *Hear Res* 151, 205-220 (2001)
- 12. Shull G E: Gene knockout studies of Ca²⁺-transporting ATPases. *Eur J Biochem* 267, 5284-5290 (2000)
- 13. Missiaen L., W. Robberecht, L. van den Bosch, G. Callewaert, J.B. Parys, F. Wuytack, L. Raeymaekers, B. Nilius, J. Eggermont & H. De Smedt: Abnormal intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis and disease. *Cell Calcium* 28, 1-21 (2000)
- 14. Berridge M J, M.D Bootman & P. Lipp: Calcium a life and death signal. *Nature* 395, 645-648 (1998)
- 15. Guerini D, E. Garcia-Martin, A. Gerber, C. Volbracht, M. Leist, C.G. Merino & E. Carafoli: The expression of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoforms in cerebellar granule neurons is modulated by Ca²⁺. *J Biol Chem* 274, 1667-1676 (1999)
- 16. Guerini D, X. Wang, L. Li, A. Genazzani & E. Carafoli: Calcineurin controls the expression of isoform 4CII of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump in neurons. *J Biol Chem* 275, 3706-3712 (2000)
- 17. Usachev Y M, S.L. Toutenhoofd, G.M. Goellner, E.E. Strehler & S.A. Thayer: Differentiation induces upregulation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase and concomitant increase in Ca²⁺ efflux in human neuroblastoma cell line IMR-32. *J Neurochem* 76, 1756-1765 (2001)
- 18. Brandt P C & T.C. Vanaman: Elevated glucocorticoid receptor transactivation and down-regulation of alpha 1 integrin are associated with loss of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform. *J Biol Chem* 275, 24534-2539 (2000)
- 19. Brandt P C, J.E. Sisken, R.L. Neve & T.C. Vanaman: Blockade of plasma membrane calcium pumping ATPase isoform I impairs nerve growth factor-induced neurite extension in pheochromocytoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 13843-13848 (1996)
- 20. Zacharias D A & E.E. Strehler: Change in plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase splice variant expression in response to arise in intracellular Ca²⁺. *Current Biol* 6, 1642-1652 (1996)

- 21. Du Y, L. Carlock & T.H. Kuo: The mouse plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoform 1 promoter: cloning and characterization. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 316, 302-310 (1995)
- 22. Afroze T & M. Husain: c-Myb-binding sites mediate G1/S-associated repression of the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase-1 promoter. *J Biol Chem* 275, 9062-9069 (2000)
- 23. Husain M, L. Jiang, V. See, K. Bein, M. Simons, S.L. Alper & R.D. Rosenberg: Regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation by plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Am J Physiol* 272, C1947-1959 (1997)
- 24. Hammes A, S. Oberdorf-Maass, S. Jenatschke, T. Pelzer, A. Maass, F. Gollnick, R. Meyer, J. Afflerbach & L. Neyses: Expression of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in myogenic cells. *J Biol Chem* 271, 30816-30822 (1996)
- 25. Hammes A, S. Oberdorf-Maass, T. Rother, K. Nething, F. Gollnick, K.W. Linz, R. Meyer, K. Hu, H. Han, P. Gaudron, G. Ertl, S. Hoffmann, U. Ganten, R. Vetter, K. Schuh, C. Benkwitz, H.G. Zimmer & L. Neyses: Overexpression of the sarcolemmal calcium pump in the myocardium of transgenic rats. *Circ Res* 83, 877-888 (1998)
- 26. Piuhola J, A. Hammes, K. Schuh, L. Neyses, O. Vuolteenaho & H. Ruskoaho: Overexpression of sarcolemmal calcium pump attenuates induction of cardiac gene expression in response to ET-1. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 281, R699-R705 (2001)
- 27. Pannabecker T L, J.S. Chandler & R.H. Wasserman: Vitamin-D-dependent transcriptional regulation of the intestinal plasma membrane calcium pump. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 213, 499-505 (1995)
- 28. Glendenning P, T. Ratajczak, R.L. Prince, N. Garamszegi & E.E. Strehler: The promoter region of the human PMCA1 gene mediates transcriptional downregulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 277, 722-728 (2000)
- 29. Bhargava A, O.C. Meijer, M.F. Dallman & D. Pearce: Plasma membrane calcium pump isoform 1 gene expression is repressed by corticosterone and stress in rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* 20, 3129-3138 (2000)
- 30. Zylinska L, E. Gromadzinska & L. Lachowicz:. Short-time effects of neuroactive steroids on rat cortical Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1437, 257-264 (1999)
- 31. Lipton P: Ischemic cell death in brain neurons. *Physiol. Rev* 79, 1431-1568 (1999)

- 32. Hebbel R P, O. Shalev, W. Foker & H.H. Rank: Inhibition of erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase by activated oxygen through thiol- and lipid-dependent mechanisms. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 862, 8-16 (1986)
- 33. Leclerc L, C. Vasseur, E. Bursaux, M. Marden & C Poyart: Inhibition of membrane erythrocyte (Ca²⁺+ Mg²⁺)-ATPase by hemin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 946, 49-56 (1988)
- 34. Rohn T T, T.R. Hinds & F.F. Vincenzi: Inhibition of the Ca²⁺ pump of intact red blood cells by t-butyl hydroperoxide: importance of glutathione peroxidase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1153, 67-76 (1993)
- 35. Rohn T T, T.R. Hinds & F.F. Vincenzi: Inhibition by activated neutrophils of the Ca²⁺ pump ATPase of intact red blood cells *Free Radic Biol Med* 18, 655-67 (1995)
- 36. Zylinska L, M. Soszynski, B. Sobolewska & E. Gulczynska: Characterization of erythrocyte compounds in asphyxiated newborns. *Mol Cell Biol Res Commun* 2, 185-189 (1999)
- 37. Raess B U, C.E. Keenan & J. McConnell: Effect of 4-OH 2,3 *trans* -nonenal on human erythrocyte plasma membrane Ca²⁺-pump and passive Ca²⁺ permeability. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 235, 451-454 (1997)
- 38. McConnell E J, A.M. Bittelmeyer & R.U. Raess: Irreversible inhibition of plasma membrane (Ca²⁺ +Mg²⁺)- ATPase and Ca²⁺- transport by 4-OH-2,3-*trans* -nonenal. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 361, 252-256 (1999)
- 39. Esterbauer H, H. Puhl, M. Dieber-Rotheneder, G. Waeg & H. Rabl: Effect of antioxidants on oxidative modification of LDL. *Ann Med* 23, 573-581 (1991)
- 40. Zhao B, R. Dierichs, F.N. Miller & W.L. Dean: Oxidized low density lipoprotein inhibits platelet plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Cell Calcium* 19, 453-458 (1996)
- 41. Soszynski M & G. Bartosz: Effect of peroxynitrite on erythrocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1291, 107-114 (1996)
- 42. Soszynski M, A. Filipiak, G. Bartosz & J.M. Gebicki: Effect of amino acid peroxides on the erythrocyte. *Free Radic Biol Med* 20, 45-51 (1996)
- 43. Stepien K, A. Zajdel, A. Wilczok, T. Wilczok, A. Grzelak, A. Mateja, M. Soszynski & G. Bartosz: Dopamine-melanin protects against tyrosine nitration, tryptophan oxidation and Ca²⁺-ATPase inactivation induced by peroxynitrite. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1523, 189-195 (2000)
- 44. Hoyal C R, A.P. Thomas & J. Forman: Hydroperoxide-induced increases in intracellular

- calcium due to annexinVI translocation and inactivation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 271, 29205-29210, (1996)
- 45. Muriel P & G. Sandoval: Hepatic basolateral plasma high-affinity Ca²⁺-ATPase is inhibited by nitric oxide and peroxynitrite anion. *J Appl Toxicol* 20, 435-439 (2000)
- 46. Pereira C, C. Ferreira, C. Carvalho & C. Oliveira: Contribution of plasma membrane and endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPases to the synaptosomal [Ca²⁺]i increase during oxidative stress. *Brain Res* 713, 269-277 (1996)
- 47. Sastry P S & K.S. Rao: Apoptosis and the nervous system. *J Neurochem* 74, 1-20 (2000)
- 48. Mark R J, K. Hensley, D.A. Butterfield & M.P. Mattson: Amyloid beta peptide impairs ion motive ATPase activities: evidence for a role in loss of neuronal Ca²⁺ homeostasis and cell death. *J Neurosci* 15, 6239-6249 (1995)
- 49. Zaidi A & M.L. Michaelis: Effects of reactive oxygen species on brain synaptic plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Free Radic Biol Med* 27, 810-821 (1999)
- 50. Siesjö B K, K.I. Katsura, Q.I. Zhao, J. Folbergrova, K. Pahlmark, M. Siesjö & M.L. Smith: Mechanisms of secondary brain damage in global and focal ischemia: A speculative synthesis. *J Neurotrauma* 12, 943-956 (1995)
- 51. Agrawal S K & M.G. Fehlings: Mechanisms of secondary injury to spinal cord axons in vitro: role of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, the Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger, and the Na⁺ Ca⁺ exchanger. *J Neurosci* 16, 545-52 (1996)
- 52. Hall E D: Inhibition of lipid peroxidation in central nervous system trauma and ischemia. *J Neurol Sci* 134, 79-83 (1995)
- 53. Lukacova N, G. Halat, M. Chavko & J. Marsala: Ischemia-reperfusion injury in the spinal cord of rabbits strongly enhances lipid peroxidation and modifies phospholipid profiles. *Neurochem Res* 21, 869-873 (1996)
- 54. Urabe T, Y. Yamasaki, N. Hattori, M. Yoshikawa, K. Uchida & Y. Mizuno: Accumulation of 4-hydroxynonenal-modified proteins in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons precedes delayed neuronal damage in the gerbil brain. *Neuroscience* 100, 241-50I (2000)
- 55. Lockwood T D: Redox control of protein degradation. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2, 851-878 (2000)

- 56. Koppal T, J. Drake, S. Yatin, B. Jordan, S. Varadarajan, L. Bettenhausen & D. A. Butterfield: Peroxynitrite-induced alterations in synaptosomal membrane proteins: insight into oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* 72, 310-317 (1999)
- 57. Racay P & J. Lehotsky: Intracellular and molecular aspects of Ca²⁺ -mediated signal transduction in neuronal cells. *Gen Physiol Biophys* 15, 273-289 (1996)
- 58. Matejovicova M, S. Machac, J. Lehotsky, J. Jakus & V. Mezesova: Synaptosomal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase during forebrain ischemia in Mongolian gerbils. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* 29, 67-78 (1996)
- 59. Kaplan P, M. Doval, Z. Majerova, J. Lehotsky, & P. Racay: Iron-induced lipid peroxidation and protein modification in endoplasmic reticulum membranes. Protection by stobadine. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 32, 539-547 (2000)
- 60. Lehotsky J, P. Kaplan, P. Racay, M. Matejovicova, A. Drgova & V. Mezesova: Membrane ion transport systems during oxidative stress in rodent brain: protective effect of stobadine and other antioxidants. *Life Sci* 65, 1951-1958 (1999)
- 61. Squier T C & D.J. Bigelow: Protein oxidation and age-dependent alterations in calcium homeostasis. *Front Biosci* 5, D504-526 (2000)
- 62. Juhaszova M, P. Church, M.P. Blaustein & F.P. Stanley: Location of calcium transporters at presynaptic terminals. *Eur J Neurosci* 12, 839-846 (2000)
- 63. Fierro L, R. DiPolo, I. Llano: Intracellular calcium clearance in Purkinje cell somata from rat cerebellar slices. *J Physiol (London)* 510, 499-521 (1998)
- 64. Mironov S L: Plasmalemmal and intracellular Ca²⁺ pumps as main determinants of slow Ca²⁺ buffering in rat hippocampal neurons. *Neuropharmacol* 34, 1123-1132 (1995)
- 65. Garcia M L, Y.M. Usachev, S.A. Thayer, E.E. Strehler & A.J. Windebank: Plasma membrane calcium ATPase plays a role in reducing Ca²⁺-mediated cytotoxicity in PC12 cells. *J Neurosci Res* 64, 661-669 (2001)
- 66. Salvador J M, G. Inesi, J.L. Rigaud & A.M. Mata: Ca²⁺ transport by reconstituted synaptosomal ATPase is associated with H⁺ countertransport and net charge displacement. *J Biol Chem* 273, 18230-18234 (1988)
- 67. Naderali E K, N. Buttell, M.U. Taggart, A.J. Bullock, D.A. Eisner, S. Wray: The role of the sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ -ATPase in the pH transients

- associated with contraction in rat smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 505 (Pt 2), 329-361 (1997)
- 68. Trapp S, M. Luckermann, K. Kaila & K. Ballanyi: Acidosis of hippocampal neurons mediated by a plasmalemmal Ca²⁺/H⁺ pump. *Neuroreport* 7, 2000-2004 (1996)
- 69. Wu M L, J.H. Chen, W.H. Chen, Y.J. Chen & K.C. Chu: Novel role of the Ca²⁺-ATPase in NMDA induced intracellular acidification. *Am J Physiol* 277, C717-727, (1999)
- 70. Khodorov B, V. Pinelis, O. Vergun, T. Storozhevykh, D. Fajuk, N. Vinskaya, E. Arsenjeva, L. Khaspekov, A. Lyzin A & N. Isaev: Dramatic effects of external alkalinity on neuronal calcium recovery following a short-duration glutamate challenge: the role of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺/H⁺ pump. *FEBS Lett* 371, 249-252 (1995)
- 71. Pelletier M R, J.S. Wadia, L.R. Mills & P.L. Carlen: Seizure-induced cell death produced by repeated tetanic stimulation in vitro: possible role of endoplasmic reticulum calcium stores. *J Neurophysiol* 81, 3054-3064 (1999)
- 72. Garcia M L, K.D. Murray, V.B. Garcia, E.E. Strehler & P.J. Isackson: Seizure-induced alterations of plasma membrane ATPase isoforms 1, 2 and 3 mRNA and protein in the rat hippocampus. *Mol Brain Res* 45, 230-238 (1997)
- 73. Mattson M P, C. Culmsee & Z.F. Yu: Apoptotic and antiapoptotic mechanisms in stroke. *Cell Tissue Res* 301, 173-187 (2000)
- 74. Oner P, H. Kocak & B. Oztas: Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes and pentylenetetrazol-induced seizure on brain cortex Ca²⁺ ATPase activity in rats. *Int J Neurosci* 103, 33-40 (2000)
- 75. Shen Q, X. Wei, F. Hong & G. Sushu: The study of erythrocytes membrane, ATPase activities, hemorheological changes and their correlation in stroke patients. *Clin. Hemorheology*, 16, 507-513 (1996)
- 76. Suh Y H, H.S. Kim, J.P. Lee, C.H. Park, S.J. Jeong, S.S. Kim, J.C. Rah, J.H. Seo & S.S. Kim: Roles of A beta and carboxyl terminal peptide fragments of amyloid precursor protein in Alzheimer disease. *J Neural Transm Suppl* 58, 65-82 (2000)
- 77. Bryan-Sisneros A A, S.P. Fraser, Y.H. Suh & M.B. Djamgoz: Toxic effect of the beta-amyloid precursor protein C-terminus fragment and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ gradients. *Neuroreport* 11, 3357-3360 (2000)

- 78. Mundy W R, P.R. Kodavanti, V.F. Dulchinos H.A. Tilson: Aluminium alters calcium transport in plasma membrane and endoplasmic reticulum from rat brain. *J Biochem Toxicol* 9, 17-23 (1994)
- 79. Rizopoulos E, J.P. Chambers, A.O. Martinez & M.J. Wayner: Kinetic properties of the [Ca²⁺ + Mg²⁺]-ATPase in Alzheimer and normal fibroblasts at low free calcium. *Brain Res Bull* 21, 825-828 (1988)
- 80. Yamashima T: Implication of cysteine proteases calpain, cathepsin and caspase in ischemic neuronal death of primates. *Prog Neurobiol* 62, 273-295 (2000)
- 81. Hirota J, T. Furuichi & K. Mikoshiba: Inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate receptor type 1 is a substrate for caspase 3 and is cleaved during apoptosis in a caspase 3 dependent manner. *J Biol Chem* 274, 34433- 34437 (1999)
- 82. Haug L S, S.L. Walaas & A.C. Ostvold: Degradation of the type I inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate receptor by caspase 3 in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells undergoing apoptosis. *J Neurochem* 75, 1852-1861 (2000)
- 83. Nicotera P: Ion fluxes and energy production in apoptosis and necrosis. *J Neurochem* 77, Supp.1. Abstr. S02-02, 2 (2001)
- 84. Stauffer T P, D. Guerini, & E. Carafoli: Tissue distribution of the four gene products of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump. A study using specific antibodies. *J Biol Chem* 270, 12184-12190 (1995)
- 85. Stauffer T P, D. Guerini, M.R. Celio, & E. Carafoli: Immunolocalization of the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoforms in the rat brain. *Brain Res* 748, 21-29 (1997)
- 86. J. Lehotsky, P Kaplan, P Racay, L Raeymaekers & V. Mezesova: Ischemia-induced decreases protein levels of InP_3 receptor and PMCA but not organellar Ca^{2+} pump and calreticulin in gerbil forebrain. In: Neurochemistry. Cellular, molecular and clinical aspects. Eds: Teelken A, Korf J, Plenum Press, New York and London (1997)
- 87. Lehotsky J, P. Kaplan, P. Racay, V. Mezesova & L. Raeymaekers: Distribution of plasma membrane Ca2+pump (PMCA) isoforms in the gerbil brain: effect of ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Neurochem Int* 35, 221-227 (1999)
- 88. Neumar R W, F.H. Meng, A.M. Mills & R. Siman: Brain ischemia causes proteolytic modification of plasma membrane calcium ATPase. *Soc for Neurosci* 25, Abstr. 841.12 (1999)
- 89. Frederick J R, & R.W. Neumar: Histochemical analysis of plasma membrane Calcium-ATPase activity in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons following transient forebrain ischemia. *Acad Emerg Med* 8, 511 (2001)

- 90. Paschen W, J. Doutheil, A. Uto, & C. Gissel: Changes in endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ATPase mRNA levels in transient cerebral ischemia of rats: a quantitative PCR study. *Neurosci Lett* 217, 41-44 (1996)
- 91. Xia J, G. Simonyi, & G.Y. Sun: Changes in IP₃ and SERCA 2b mRNA levels in the gerbil brain after chronic ethanol administration and transient cerebral ischemia-reperfusion. *Mol. Brain Res* 56, 22-28(1998)
- 92. Zhang S X, J.P. Zhang, D.L. Fletcher, R. Thomas-Zoeller & G.Y. Sun: In situ hybridization of mRNA expression for IP_3 receptor and IP_3 3-kinase in rat brain after transient focal ischemia. *Mol Brain Res* 32, 252-260 (1995)
- 93. Oguro K, M. Nakamura, & T. Masuzawa: Histochemical study of Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in ischemic CA1 pyramidal neurons in the gerbil hippocampus. *Acta Neuropathol* 90, 448-453 (1995)
- 94. Costelli P, R.D. Tullio, F.M. Baccino, & E. Melloni: Activation of Ca²⁺-dependent proteolysis in skeletal muscle and heart in cancer cachexia. *Br J Cancer* 84, 946-950 (2001)
- 95. Kirino T, Y. Tsujita, & A. Tamura: Induced tolerance to ischemia in gerbil hippocampal neurons. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 11, 299-307 (1991)
- 96. Ohta S, S. Furuta, I. Matsubara, K. Kohno, Y. Kumon, & S. Sakaki: Calcium movement in ischemiatolerant hippocampal CA1 neurons after transient forebrain ischemia in gerbils. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 16, 915-922 (1996)
- 97. Kim P, Y. Yoshimoto, M. Iino, S. Tomio, T. Kirino & Y. Nonomura: Impaired calcium regulation of smooth muscle during chronic vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 16, 334-341 (1996)
- 98. Matsubara T & N.S. Dhalla: Relationship between mechanical dysfunction and depression of sarcolemmal Ca²⁺-pump activity in hearts perfused with oxygen free radicals. *Mol Cell Biochem* 160-161, 179-185 (1996)
- 99. Bers DM: Calcium fluxes involved in control of cardiac myocyte contraction. *Circ Res* 87, 275-281 (2000)
- 100. Chemnitius J M, Y. Sasaki, W. Burger & R.J. Bing: The effect of ischemia and reperfusion on sarcolemmal function in perfused canine hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 17, 1139-1150 (1985)
- 101. Dhalla N S, I.M. Dixon & R.E. Beamish: Irreversible damage to sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport in myocardial ischemia. *Biomed Biochim Acta* 46, S505-511 (1987)

- 102. Dhalla N S, V. Panagia, P.K. Singal, N. Makino, I.M. Dixon & D.A. Eyolfson: Alterations in heart membrane calcium transport during the development of ischemia-reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 20 Suppl 2, 3-13 (1988)
- 103. Lamers J M, J.A. Post, A.J. Verkleij, F.J. Ten Cate, W.J. van der Giessen WJ & P.D. Verdouw: Loss of functional and structural integrity of the sarcolemma: an early indicator of irreversible injury of myocardium? *Biomed Biochim Acta* 46, S517-521 (1987)
- 104. Samouilidou E C, J.N. Karli, G.M. Levis & J. Darsinos: The sarcolemmal Ca²⁺-ATPase of the ischemic-reperfused myocardium: protective effect of hypocalcemia on calmodulin-stimulated activity. *Life Sci* 62, 29-36 (1998)
- 105. Bersohn M M, A.K. Morey & R.S. Weiss: Sarcolemmal calcium transporters in myocardial ischemia. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol*. 29, 2525-2532 (1997)
- 106. Dhalla N S, R.M. Temsah, & T. Netticadan: Role of oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. *J Hypertens* 18, 655-673 (2000)
- 107. Dixon I M, M. Kaneko, T. Hata, V. Panagia & N.S. Dhalla: Alterations in cardiac membrane Ca²⁺ transport during oxidative stress. *Mol Cell Biochem* 99, 125-133 (1990)
- 108. Grover A K & S.E. Samson: Effect of superoxide radical on Ca²⁺ pumps of coronary artery. *Am J Physiol* 255, C297-303 (1988)
- 109. Nakanishi H, N. Makino, T. Hata, H. Matsui, K. Yano & T. Yanaga: Sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport activities in cardiac hypertrophy caused by pressure overload. *Am J Physiol* 257, H349-356 (1989)
- 110. Kuo T H, W. Tsang & J. Wiener: Defective Ca²⁺-pumping ATPase of heart sarcolemma from cardiomyopathic hamster. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 900, 10-16 (1987)
- 111. Kwan C Y: The plasma membrane component is the primary site of action of alloxan on ATP driven Ca^{2+} transport in vascular smooth muscle microsomal fractions. *Biochem J* 254, 293-296 (1988)
- 112. Tappia P S, T. Hata, L. Hozaima, M.S. Sandhu, V. Panagia & N.S. Dhalla: Role of oxidative stress in catecholamine-induced changes in cardiac sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ transport. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 387, 85-92 (2001)
- 113. Hasenfuss G: Alterations of calcium-regulatory proteins in heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res* 37, 279-289 (1998)
- 114. Kraus-Friedmann N: Hormonal regulation of cytosolic calcium levels in the liver. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 28, 275-284 (1995)

- 115. Yamaguchi M: Role of regucalcin in calcium signaling. *Life Sci* 66, 1769-1780 (2000)
- 116. Song J Y, J. Van Marle, C.J. Van Noorden &W.F. Frederiks: Redistribution of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺-ATPase activity in relation to alterations of the cytoskeleton and tight junctions in hepatocytes of cholestatic rat liver. *Eur J Cell Biol* 71, 277-285 (1996)
- 117. Accatino L, M. Pizarro, N. Solis, M. Arrese, V. Vollrath, M. Ananthanarayanan, J. Chianale & C.S. Koenig: Differential expression of canalicular membrane Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺-ecto-ATPase in estrogen-induced and obstructive cholestasis in the rat. *J Lab Clin Med* 136, 125-137 (2000)
- 118. Mas-Oliva J, R. Perez-Montfort, M. Cardenas-Garcia M. & M. Rivas-Duro: Altered coupling states between calcium transport and Ca²⁺,Mg²⁺-ATPase in the AS-30D ascites hepatocarcinoma plasma membrane. *Mol Cell Biochem* 100, 39-50 (1991)
- 119. Janicki P K, P.E. Wise, A.E. Belous & C.W. Pinson: Interspecies differences in hepatic Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and the effect of cold preservation on porcine liver Ca²⁺ ATPase function. *Liver Transpl* 7, 132-139 (2001)
- 120. Lau Y Y, C.C. Hsieh, M.S. Liu, T.L. Hwang, M.L. Chen & H.S. Cheng: Erythrocyte Ca²⁺ pump is defective during sepsis. *Circulatory Shock*, 44, 121-125 (1995)
- 121. Soria B, F. Martin: Cytosolic calcium oscillations and insulin release in pancreatic islets of Langerhans. *Diabetes Metab* 24, 37-40 (1998)
- 122. Varadi A, E. Molnar & S.J. Ashcroft: A unique combination of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoforms is expressed in islets of Langerhans and pancreatic beta-cell lines. *Biochem J* 314, 663-669 (1996)
- 123. Kamagate A, A. Herchuelz, A. Bollen & F. Van Eylen: Expression of multiple plasma membrane ${\rm Ca}^{2+}$ -ATPases in rat pancreatic islet cells *Cell Calcium* 27, 231-246. (2000)
- 124. Gagliardino J J & J.P. Rossi: Ca²⁺-ATPase in pancreatic islets: its possible role in the regulation of insulin secretion. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 10, 1-17 (1994)
- 125. Hoenig M, R.J. Lee & D.C. Ferguson: Glucose inhibits the high-affinity (Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺)-ATPase in the plasma membrane of a glucose-responsive insulinoma. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1022, 333-338 (1990)
- 126. Levy J, Z. Zhu & J.C. Dunbar: The effect of glucose and calcium on Ca²⁺-adenosine triphosphatase in pancreatic islets isolated from a normal and a non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus rat model. *Metabolism* 47, 185-189 (1998)

- 127. Levy J, J.R. Gavin 3rd & J.R. Sowers: Diabetes mellitus: a disease of abnormal cellular calcium metabolism? *Am J Med* 96, 260-273 (1994)
- 128. Takahashi H, T. Murata, Y. Hanahisa & M. Yamaguchi: Streptozotocin-induced diabetes increases (Ca²⁺+-Mg²⁺)-ATPase activity in hepatic plasma membranes of rats: involvement of protein kinase C. *Mol Cell Biochem* 178, 311-116 (1998)
- 129. Spieker C, S. Fischer, E. Zierden, H. Schluter, M. Tepel & W. Zidek: Cellular Ca²⁺ATPase activity in diabetes mellitus. *Horm Metab Res* 26, 544-547 (1994)
- 130. Gonzalez-Flecha F L, M.C. Bermudez, N.V. Cedola NV, J.J. Gagliardino & J.P. Rossi: Decreased Ca²⁺-ATPase activity after glycosylation of erythrocyte membranes in vivo and in vitro. *Diabetes* 39, 707-711 (1990)
- 131. Gonzalez Flecha F L, P.R. Castello, A.J. Caride, J.J. Gagliardino & J.P. Rossi: The erythrocyte calcium pump is inhibited by non-enzymic glycation: studies in situ and with the purified enzyme. *Biochem J* 293, 369-375 (1993)
- 132. Bilgin R & S.S. Tukel: Effects of glucose on the activity of erythrocyte membrane Ca²⁺ATPase in subjects with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 39, 547-552 (1996)
- 133. Finotti P & A. Piccoli: Sex and parental hypertension as predictors of worsened red blood cell membrane enzyme activities in type 1 insulin-dependent diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Metab* 19, 11-16 (1993)
- 134. Migdalis I N, K. Xenos, K. Chairopoulos, N. Varvarigos, E. Leontiades & K. Karmaniolas: Ca²⁺-Mg²⁺-ATPase activity and ionized calcium in type 2 diabetic patients with neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 49, 113-118 (2000)
- 135. Muzulu S I, R.F. Bing, F. Norman & A.C. Burden: Human red cell membrane fluidity and calcium pump activity in normolipidaemic type II diabetic subjects. *Diabet Med* 11, 763-767 (1994)
- 136. Gonzalez Flecha F L, P.R. Castello, J.J. Gagliardino & J.P. Rossi: Molecular characterization of the glycated plasma membrane calcium pump. *J Membr Biol* 171, 25-34 (1999)
- 137. Lehotsky J: The Ca²⁺-pump in erythrocytes is inhibited by glucose: a possible role in the pathogenesis of chronic complications in diabetes. *Bratisl Med Journal* 95, 103-106 (1994) Article in Slovak
- 138. Raftos J E, A. Edgley, R.M. Bookchin, Z. Etzion, V.L. Lew & T. Tiffert: Normal Ca²⁺ extrusion by the Ca²⁺ pump of intact red blood cells exposed to high glucose concentrations. *Am J Physiol* 280, C1449-1454 (2001)

- 139. Jain S K & G. Lim: Lipoic acid decreases lipid peroxidation and protein glycosylation and increases Na⁺ +K⁺- and Ca²⁺-ATPase activities in high glucose-treated human erythrocytes. *Free Radic Biol Med* 29, 1122-1128 (2000)
- 140. Balasubramanyam M, R.A. Balaji, B. Subashini, V. Mohan: Evidence for mechanistic alterations of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Exp Diabetes Res* 1, 275-287 (2001)
- 141. Levy J & J.R. Gavin: Different genes for obesity are associated with insulin loss of regulation of the membrane (Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺)-ATPase in the obesity syndrome. Lessons from animal models. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 19, 97-102 (1995)
- 142. Evcimen N D, B.D. Pekiner & S. Nebioglu: Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat kidneys. *Diabetes Metab* 25, 399-403 (1999)
- 143. Janicki P K, J.L. Horn, G. Singh, V.E. Janson, W.T. Franks & J. Franks: Reduced anesthetic requirements, diminished brain plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase pumping, and enhanced brain synaptic plasma membrane phospholipid methylation in diabetic rats: effects of insulin. *Life Sci* 56, PL357-363 (1995)
- 144. Rabini R A, R. Staffolani, D. Martarelli, P. Fumelli, F. Ravaglia, N. Dousset, G. Curatola & L. Mazzanti: Influence of low density lipoprotein from insulin-dependent diabetic patients on platelet functions. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 3770-3774 (1999)
- 145. Taira Y, T. Hata, P.K. Ganguly, V. Elimban & N.S. Dhalla: Increased sarcolemmal ${\rm Ca}^{2^+}$ transport activity in skeletal muscle of diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol* 260, E626-632 (1991)
- 146. Heyliger C E, A. Prakash & J.H. McNeill: Alterations in cardiac sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ pump activity during diabetes mellitus. *Am. J. Physiol* 252, H540-544 (1987)
- 147. Carafoli E: Calcium pump of the plasma membrane. *Physiol Rev* 71, 129-153 (1991)
- 148. Leclerc L, M. Marden & C. Poyart: Inhibition of the erythrocyte (Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺)-ATPase by nonheme iron. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1062, 35-38 (1991)
- 149. Tiffert T, V.L. Lew, D. Perdomo & H. Ginsburg: Effect of ferriprotoporphyrin IX and non-heme iron on the Ca²⁺ pump of intact human red cells. *J Membr Biol* 175, 107-113 (2000)
- 150. Fathallah H, M.J. Sauvage, J. R. Romero, M. Canessa & F. Giraud: Effects of PKC alpha activation on Ca^{2+} pump and K^+ (Ca^{2+}) channel in deoxygenated sickle cells. *Am J Physiol* 273, C1206-1214 (1997)

- 151. Romero P J & E.A. Romero: Differences in Ca²⁺ pumping activity between sub-populations of human red cells. *Cell Calcium* 21, 353-358 (1997)
- 152. Ronquist G, O. Rudolphi, I. Engstrom & A. Waldenstrom: Familial phosphofructokinase deficiency is associated with a disturbed calcium homeostasis in erythrocytes. *J Intern Med* 249, 85-95 (2001)
- 153. Okunade W G & O.O. Olorunsogo: Effect of reactive oxygen species on the erythrocyte calciumpump function in protein-energy malnutrition. *Biosci Rep* 12, 433-443 (1992)
- 154. Waldenstrom A, I. Engstrom & G. Ronquist: Increased erythrocyte content of Ca²⁺ in patients with Tarui's disease. *J Intern Med* 249, 97-102 (2001)
- 155. Campagna D, G. Huel, G. Hellier, F. Girard, J. Sahuquillo, A. Fagot-Campagna, J. Godin & P. Blot: Negative relationships between erythrocyte Ca²⁺-pump activity and lead levels in mothers and newborns. *Life Sci* 68, 203-215 (2000)
- 156. Bianchi G, G. Vezzoli, D. Cusi, T. Cova, A. Elli, L. Soldati, G. Tripodi, M. Surian, E. Ottaviano & P. Rigatti: Abnormal red-cell calcium pump in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *N Engl J Med* 319, 897-901 (1988)
- 157. Kocsis I, B. Vasarhelyi, E. Heninger, A. Szabo, G. Reusz & T. Tulassay: Abundance and activity of Ca²⁺-ATPase in hypercalciuric children. *Pediatr Nephrol* 16, 739-741 (2001)
- 158. Friederichs E, & A. Wurz: Age-related determination of the basal and calmodulin-stimulated human RBC Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. *Biochem Med Metab Biol* 43, 39-44 (1990)
- 159. Mollman J E & D.E. Pleasure: Erythrocyte calcium transport in myotonic and facioscapulohumeal muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* 34, 1514-1516 (1984)
- 160. MacDonald E, D. Rubnow & M. Linnoila: Sensitivity of RBC membrane Ca²⁺-adenosine triphosphatase to calmodulin stimulation. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 41, 487-493 (1984)
- 161. Meltzer H.L., S. Kassir, P.J. Goodnick, R.R. Fieve, L. Chrisomalis, M. Feliacina & D. Szypula: Calmodulin stimulated calcium ATPase in bipolar illness. *Neuropsychobiology* 20, 169-173 (1988)
- 162. Katz S & T.A. Ansah: $(Mg^{2+}+Ca^{2+})$ -ATPase activity in plasma membrane enriched preparations of human skin fibroblasts: decreased activity in fibroblasts derived from cystic fibrosis patients. *Clin Chim Acta* 100, 245-252 (1980)
- 163. Hunsinger R N & H.C. Cheung: Probe of the $(Ca^{2+}+Mg^{2+})$ -ATPase in erythrocyte membranes of

- cystic fibrosis patients. Clin Chim Acta 156, 165-177 (1986)
- 164. Romero P J & E.A. Romero: Effect of cell ageing on Ca²⁺ influx into human red cells. *Cell Calcium* 26, 131-137 (1999)
- 165. Seidler N W & N.I. Swislocki: The effects of pentoxiphylline on the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase in age-separated rat and human erythrocytes. *J Clin Pharmacol* 32, 332-337 (1992)
- 166. Magosci M, M. Yamaki, J.T. Penniston & T.P.Dousa:. Localization of mRNAs coding for isozymes of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ -ATPase pump in rat kidney. *Am J Physiol* 263, F7-14 (1992)
- 167. Caride A J, E.N. Chini, M. Yamaki, T.P. Dousa & J.T. Penniston: Unique localization of mRNA encoding plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoform 3 in rat thin descending loop of Henle. *Am J Physiol* 269, F681-685 (1995)
- 168. Glendenning P, T. Ratajczak, I.M. Dick & R.L. Prince: Calcitriol upregulates expression and activity of the 1b isoform of the plasma membrane calcium pump in immortalized distal kidney tubular cells. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 380, 126-132 (2000)
- 169. Blankenship K A, J.J. Williams, M.S. Lawrence, K.R. McLeish, W.L. Dean & J.M. Arthur: The calciumsensing receptor regulates calcium absorption in MDCK cells by inhibition of PMCA. *Am J Physiol* 280, F815-822 (2001)
- 170. Caride A J, E.N. Chini, J.T. Penniston, & T.P. Dousa: Selective decrease of mRNAs encoding plasma membrane calcium pump isoforms 2 and 3 in rat kidney. *Kidney Int* 56, 1818-1825 (1999)
- 171. Donahue H J, J. T. Penniston & H.J. Heath: Kinetics of erythrocyte plasma membrane (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺)ATPase in familial benign hypercalcemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 68, 893-898 (1989)
- 172. Shinya A & M. Yamaguchi: Alterations in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and calcium-binding protein regucalcin mRNA expression in the kidney cortex of rats with saline ingestion. *Mol Cell Biochem* 170, 17-22 (1997)
- 173. Ward D T., S.K. Yau, A.P. Mee, E.B. Mawer, C.A. Miller, H.O. Garland & D. Riccardi: Functional, molecular, and biochemical characterization of streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 12, 779-790 (2001)
- 174. Lindner A, T.R. Hinds, A. Joly & G.F. Schreiner: Neutral lipid from proteinuric rat urine is a novel inhibitor of the red blood cell calcium pump. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 10, 1170-1178 (1999)

- 175. Jankowski J, H. Luftmann, M. Tepel, D. Leibfritz, W. Zidek & H. Schluter: Characterization of dimethylguanosine, phenylethylamine, and phenylacetic acid as inhibitors of Ca²⁺ ATPase in end-stage renal failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 9, 1249-1257 (1998)
- 176. Jankowski J, M. Tepel, N. Stephan, M. Van Der Giet, V. Breden, W. Zidek & H. Schluter: Characterization of p-hydroxy-hippuric acid as an inhibitor of Ca²⁺-ATPase in end-stage renal failure. *Kidney Int* 59 (Suppl 78), 84-88 (2001)
- 177. Coka-Guevara S, R.P. Markus, C. Caruso-Neves, A.G. Lopes & A. Vieyra: Adenosine inhibits the renal plasma-membrane (Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺)-ATPase through a pathway sensitive to cholera toxin and sphingosine. *Eur J Biochem* 263, 71-78 (1999)
- 178. Shalev O: Decreased erythrocyte (Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺)-ATPase activity in hemodialyzed uremic patients. *Ren Fail* 13, 27-30 (1991)
- 179. Abramowitz J, A. Aydemir-Koksoy, T. Helgason, S. Jemelka, T. Odebunmi, C.L. Seidel & J.C. Allen: Expression of plasma membrane calcium ATPases in phenotypically distinct canine vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 32, 777-789 (2000)
- 180. Monteith G R, S. Chen & B.D. Roufogalis: Measurement of Ca²⁺ pump-mediated efflux in hypertension. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* 31, 117-124 (1994)
- 181. Monteith G R, E.P.Kable, T.H. Kuo & B.D. Roufogalis: Elevated plasma membrane and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pump mRNA levels in cultured aortic smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 230, 344-346 (1997)
- 182. Kuo T H, B.F. Liu, Y. Yu, F. Wuytack, L. Raeymaekers & W. Tsang: Co-ordinated regulation of the plasma membrane calcium pump and the sarco(endo)plasmic reticular calcium pump gene expression by Ca²⁺. *Cell Calcium* 21, 399-408 (1997)
- 183. Larsen J S, T.A. Schmidt, H. Bundgaard & K. Kjeldsen: Reduced concentration of myocardial Na⁺ K⁺-ATPase in human aortic valve disease as well as of Na⁺, K⁺-and Ca²⁺-ATPase in rodents with hypertrophy. *Mol Cell Biochem* 169, 85-93, 1997
- 184. Jager H, G. Wozniak, I. Akinturk, F.W. Hehrlein & G. Scheiner-Bobis: Expression of sodium pump isoforms and other sodium or calcium ion transporters in

- the heart of hypertensive patients. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1513, 149-159 (2001)
- 185. Adeoya A S, R.F. Bing & R.I. Norman: Erythrocyte calcium-stimulated, magnesium-activated adenosine 5'-triphosphatase activity in essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* 10, 651-656 (1992)
- 186. Gutierrez-L A, G. Oliva, R. Ariza-Andraca, A. Frati-Munari & J. Mas-Oliva: Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ -ATPase activity in erythrocyte membranes from essential hypertensive patients. *Med Sci Res* 21, 31-33 (1993)
- 187. Fu Y, S. Wang, Z. Lu, H. Li & S. Li: Erythrocyte and plasma Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and cell membrane adenosine triphosphatase activity in patients with essential hypertension. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 111, 147-149 (1998)
- 188. Timmermans J A, T. Thien, P. Smits & CH. Van Os: Quantification of Ca²⁺-ATPase in erythrocytes from subjects with essential hypertension or Raynaud's phenomenon. *Am J Hypertens* 7, 90-95 (1994)
- 189. Golik A, J. Weissgarten, S. Evans, N. Cohen, Z. Averbukh, R. Zaidenstein, D. Cotariu & D. Modai: Erythrocytic Na⁺, K⁺- and Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ ATPase activities in hypertensives on angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. *Clinical Chemistry* 29, 249-254 (1996)
- 190. Cheng H Y, L.S. Liu & D.Y. Zheng: Comparison of erythrocyte membrane Ca²⁺-Mg²⁺-ATPase activity in children with and without family history of essential hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens* 4, 147-148 (1990)
- 191. Horn J L, P.K. Janicki & J.J. Franks: Diminished brain synaptic plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase activity in spontaneously hypertensive rats: association with reduced anesthetic requirements. *Life Sci* 56, PL427-PL432 (1995)
- 192. Touyz R M, F.J. Milne, & S.G. Reinach: Platelet and erythrocyte Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, Na⁺, K⁺ and cell membrane adenosine triphosphatase activity in essential hypertension in blacks. *J Hypertens* 10, 571-578 (1992)
- 193. Martin V, R. Bredoux, E. Corvazie, B. Papp & J. Enouf: Platelet Ca²⁺ ATPases: a plural, species-specific, and multiple hypertension-regulated expression system. *Hypertension* 35, 91-102 (2000)
- 194. Cheng H Y, M. Magocsi, R.S. Cooper, J.T. Penniston & J.L. Borke: Expression of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump epitopes in human platelets and megakaryoblasts. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 4, 31-43 (1994)

- 195. Paszty K, T. Kovacs, C. Lacabaratz-Porret, B. Papp, J. Enouf, A.G. Filoteo, J.T. Penniston & A. Enyedi: Expression of hPMCA4b, the major form of the plasma membrane calcium pump in megakaryoblastoid cells is greatly reduced in mature human platelets. *Cell Calcium* 24, 129-135 (1998)
- 196. Blankenship K A, C.B. Dawson, G.R. Aronoff & W.L. Dean: Tyrosine phosphorylation of human platelet plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in hypertension. *Hypertension* 35, 103-107 (2000)
- 197. Rabini R A, E. Salvolini, R. Staffolani, A. Pugnaloni, L. Simonelli, G. Biagini, N. Cester, G.G. Garzetti & L. Mazzanti: Biochemical-morphological modifications of platelet membranes during pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Exp Mol Pathol* 63, 175-185 (1995)
- 198. Benkwitz C, C. Kubisch, K. Kraft & L. Neyses: Investigation of the Met-267 Arg exchange in isoform 1 of the human plasma membrane calcium pump in patients with essential hypertension by the amplification-created restriction site technique. *J Mol Med* 75, 62-67 (1997)
- 199. Benkwitz C, S. Oberdorf-Maass & L. Neyses: Combined SSCP and heteroduplex analysis of the human plasma membrane Ca²⁺ -ATPase isoform 1 in patients with essential hypertension. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 261, 515-520 (1999)
- 200. Howard A, S. Legon & J.R. Walters: Human and rat intestinal plasma membrane calcium pump isoforms. *Am J Physiol* 265(5 Pt 1), G917-G925 (1993)
- 201. Freeman T C, A. Howard, B.S. Bentsen, S. Legon & J.R. Walters: Cellular and regional expression of transcripts of the plasma membrane calcium pump PMCA1 in rabbit intestine. *Am J Physiol* 269(1 Pt 1), G126-131 (1995)
- 202. Wasserman R H, C.A. Smith, M.E. Brindak, N. De Talamoni, C.S. Fullmer, J.T. Penniston & R. Kumar: Vitamin D and mineral deficiencies increase the plasma membrane calcium pump of chicken intestine. *Gastroenterology* 102, 886-894 (1992)
- 203. Cai Q, J.S. Chandler, R.H. Wasserman, R. Kumar & J.T. Penniston: Vitamin D and adaptation to dietary calcium and phosphate deficiencies increase intestinal plasma membrane calcium pump gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 1345-1349 (1993)
- 204. Armbrecht H J, M.A. Boltz & V.B. Kumar: Intestinal plasma membrane calcium pump protein and

- its induction by 1,25(OH)(2)D(3) decrease with age. *Am J Physiol* 277(1 Pt 1), G41-47a (1999)
- 205. Barley N F, A. Howard, D. O'Callaghan, S. Legon & J.R. Walters: Epithelial calcium transporter expression in human duodenum. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 280, G285-290 (2001)
- 206. Horst R, S. Prapong, T. Reinhardt, N. Koszewski, J. Knutson & C. Bishop: Comparison of the relative effects of 1,24-dihydroxyvitamin D2 [1, 24-(OH)(2)D(2)], 1,24-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) [1,24-(OH)(2)D(3)], and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) [1,25-(OH)(2)D(3)] on selected vitamin D-regulated events in the rat. *Biochem Pharmacol* 60, 701-708 (2000)
- 207. Kamijo T, J.M. Gonzalez, L.J. Jost, R. Barrios & W.N. Suki: Renal abnormality of calcium handling in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Kidney Int Suppl* 55, S166-168 (1996)
- 208. Charoenphandhu N, L. Limlomwongse & N. Krishnamra: Prolactin directly stimulates transcellular active calcium transport in the duodenum of female rats. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 79, 430-438 (2001)
- 209. Hubbard M J: Calcium transport across the dental enamel epithelium. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* 11, 437-466 (2000)
- 210. Borke J L, A.E. Zaki, D.R. Eisenmann, S.H. Ashrafi, S.S. Ashrafi & J.T. Penniston: Expression of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump epitopes parallels the progression of enamel and dentin mineralization in rat incisor. *J Histochem Cytochem* 41, 75-181 (1993)
- 211. Stein S.H., J.L. Borke & L.A. Cummings: Effects of chronic adult periodontitis and endotoxin (LPS) on gingival fibroblast plasma membrane Ca²⁺-pump. *Connect Tissue Res* 40, 59-66 (1999)
- 212. Borke J L, E.F. Eriksen, J. Minami, P. Keeting, K.G. Mann, J.T. Penniston, B.L. Riggs & R. Kumar: Epitopes of the human erythrocyte Ca²⁺-Mg²⁺ ATPase pump in human osteoblast-like cell plasma membranes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 67, 1299-1304 (1988)
- 213. Abramowitz J & W.N. Suki: Ca²⁺-ATPase and bone cell mineralization. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* 222, 336-344 (1996)
- 214. Sharawy M M, K.H. Kang, K.W. Kim & J.L. Borke: Distribution of plasma-membrane Ca²⁺ pump in mandibular condyles from growing and adult rabbits. *Arch Oral Biol* 45, 237-245 (2000)

- 215. Reinhardt T A, A.G. Filoteo, J.T. Penniston & R.L. Horst: Ca²⁺ -ATPase protein expression in mammary tissue. *Am J Physiol* 279, C1595-C1602 (2000)
- 216. Borke J L, A. Caride, A.K. Verma, L.K. Kelley, C.H. Smith, J.T. Penniston & R. Kumar: Calcium pump epitopes in placental trophoblast basal plasma membranes. *Am J Physiol* 257, C341-C346 (1989)
- 217. Glazier J D, D.E. Atkinson, K.L. Thornburg, P.T. Sharpe, D. Edwards, R.D. Boyd & C.P. Sibley: Gestational changes in Ca²⁺ transport across rat placenta and mRNA for calbindin 9 K and Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Am J Physiol* 263, R930-R935 (1992)
- 218. Strid H & T.L. Powell: ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ transport is up-regulated during third trimester in human syncytiotrophoblast basal membranes. *Pediatr Res* 48, 58-63 (2000)
- 219. Casart Y, T. Proverbio, R. Marin & F. Proverbio: Comparative study of the calcium adenosine triphosphatase of basal membranes of human placental trophoblasts from normotensive and preeclamptic pregnant women. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 51, 28-31 (2001)
- 220. Amino K, Y. Honda, C. Ide & T. Fujimoto: Distribution of plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ -pump and caveolin in the corneal epithelium during the wound healing process. *Curr Eye Res* 6, 1088-1095 (1995)
- 221. Paterson C A, J. Zeng, Z. Husseini, D. Borchman, N.A. Delamere, D. Garland & J. Jimenez-Asensio: Calcium ATPase activity and membrane structure in clear and cataractous human lenses. *Curr Eye Res* 16, 333-338 (1997)
- 222. Ahuja R P, D. Borchman, W.L. Dean, C.A. Paterson, J. Zeng, Z. Zhang, S. Ferguson-Yankey & M.C. Yappert: Effect of oxidation on Ca²⁺-ATPase activity and membrane lipids in lens epithelial microsomes. *Free Radic Biol Med* 27, 177-185 (1999)
- 223. Zhang Z, J. Zeng, H. Yin, D. Tang, D. Borchman & C.A. Paterson: Membrane lipid alpha-crystallin interaction and membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase activities. *Curr Eye Res* 18, 56-61 (1999)
- 224. Borke J L, A.J. Caride, T.L. Yaksh, J.T. Penniston & R. Kumar: Cerebrospinal fluid calcium homeostasis: evidence for a plasma membrane Ca²⁺-pump in mammalian choroid plexus. *Brain Res* 489, 355-360 (1989)

- 225. Keep R F, L.J. Ulanski II, J. Xiang, S.R. Ennis & A.L. Betz: Blood -brain barrier mechanisms involved in brain calcium and potassium homeostasis. *Brain Res* 815, 200-205 (1999)
- 226. A W Vorbrodt: Ultrastructural cytochemistry of blood-barrier endothelia. In: Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry. Eds: Graumann W, Lojda Z, Pearse AGE, Gustav Fischer Verlag, 1-99 (1988)
- 227. Michaelis M L, K. Johe & T.E. Kitos: Age-dependent alterations in synaptic membrane systems for Ca²⁺ regulation. *Mech Ageing Dev* 5, 215-225 (1984)
- 228. Michaelis M L, D.J. Bigelow, C. Schoneich, T.D. Williams, L. Ramonda, D. Yin, A.F. Huhmer, Y. Yao, J. Gao & T.C. Squier: Decreased plasma membrane calcium transport activity in aging brain. *Life Sci* 59, 405-412 (1996)
- 229. Zaidi A, J. Gao, T.C. Squier, & M.L. Michaelis: Age-related decrease in brain synaptic membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in F344/BNF1 rats. *Neurobiol Aging* 19, 487-495 (1998)
- 230. Hanahisa Y & M. Yamaguchi: Decrease in Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in the brain plasma membrane of rats with increasing age: Involvement of brain calcium accumulation. *Int J Mol Med* 7, 407-411 (2001)
- 231. Gao J, Y. Yao & T.C. Squier: Oxidatively modified calmodulin binds to the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase in a nonproductive and conformationally disordered complex. *Biophys J* 80, 1791-1801 (2001)
- 232. Armbrecht H J, M.A. Boltz, V.B. Kumar, J.F. Flood & J.E. Morley: Effect of age on calcium dependent proteins in hippocampus of senescent accelerated mice. *Brain Res* 842, 287-293 (1999)
- 233. Lakatta E G: Myocardial adaptations in advanced age. *Basic Res Cardiol* 88, 125-133 (1993) 234. Frolkis V V, A.L. Kobzar & B.V. Pugach: Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺-ATPase activities of the myocardial sarcolemma in aging rats after aorta coarctation: role of invertors. *Gerontology* 45, 184-186 (1999)
- Abbreviations: PMCA: plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump, SERCA: sarco(endo)plasmic Ca²⁺ pump, RO(N)S: reactive oxygen(nitrogen) species, IRI: ischemia/reperfusion injury, NMDA: N-methyl D-aspartate, TBARS: Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump in mammalian pathologies

Key Words: Neurons, Muscle Cells, Ca²⁺ Transporting Epithelial Cells, Red Blood Cells, Liver, Kidney, Disorders, Ischemia, Oxidative Stress, Diabetes, Hypertension, Aging, Plasma Membrane Ca²⁺ Pump, Modification, Review

Send correspondence to: Jan Lehotsky, PhD., prof., Comenius University, Jessenius Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Mala Hora 4, SK-03601 Martin, Slovak Republic, Tel: 421-43-4131565, Fax: 421-43-4136332, E-mail: Jan.Lehotsky@jfmed.uniba.sk